
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 5 February 2019. 
 01476 406080

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Wednesday, 13 February 2019 at 10.00 am
Newton room, Guildhall Arts Centre, St Peter's Hill, 

Grantham NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Robert Reid (Chairman)
Councillor Barry Dobson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Peter Stephens
Councillor David Taylor
Councillor Paul Wood

Invited 
Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Agenda
1.  Comments from members of the public

2.  Membership
The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3.  Apologies

4.  Declaration of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at 
the meeting.

5.  Action Notes of the Meeting held on 28 November 2018 (Pages 3 - 8)

6.  Updates from the previous meeting

Growth Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


7.  Quarter 1 & 2 Performance Monitoring and the Future of Performance 
Management
Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council

(Pages 9 - 19)

8.  Quarter 3 Finance Report 2018/19
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance

(Pages 21 - 39)

9.  Property Investment Policy and Capital Strategy
Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council

(Pages 41 - 70)

10.  Statement of Community Involvement
Report of the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications

(Pages 71 - 114)

11.  Verbal Updates and items

 Indicative Income predictions
 Local Plan
 Bank closures

12.  Any other Business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



MEETING OF THE
GROWTH OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, 
28 NOVEMBER 2018, 10.00 AM

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT
Councillor Robert Reid (Chairman)
Councillor Barry Dobson (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Peter Stephens
Councillor David Taylor

CABINET MEMBERS
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for communities, Health, Wellbeing & Skills 

OFFICERS 
Strategic Director Resources (Debbie Muddimer)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Head of Governance (Ben Bix)
Civic, Democratic Officer (Anita Eckersley)

39. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
No declarations of interest were disclosed.

40. ACTION NOTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 17 OCTOBER 2018
The Action notes from the meeting held on 17 October 2018 were noted.

It was noted that Councillor Mike Cook was not in attendance at the previous 
meeting.

41. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
A Member queried whether the comment in the action notes regarding 
increased footfall at Grantham market was correct. A request was made for 
the Committee to receive detailed statistics in respect of the footfall and work 
being undertaken to increase footfall in respect of the four town markets.  
Reference was also made to the £42K set aside for markets mentioned in the 
Q2 Financial Monitoring Report 2018/19.

3

Agenda Item 5



The Vice Chairman referred to the County Council meeting he would be 
chairing to look at revitalising town centres noting it would take place in the 
New Year.  

Further discussion took place on themed markets, living accommodation 
above shops, an holistic approach being required, individual requirements for 
each market, pedestrianisation of town centres, a co-ordinated strategy for the 
markets, enhancing the retail experience, business rate relief, subsidies, 
congestion and parking.

Wherry’s Lane Bourne: The Vice Chairman noted that the first “sod” had 
been dug at the Wherry’s Lane site in Bourne and the project was due for 
completion in twelve months’ time.

Disabled Facilities Grant: The Committee was provided with an update on 
the Disabled Facilities Grant. Information regarding the Disabled Facilities 
Grant had been sent to the South Lincolnshire Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) 
which they would be promoting.  GP Surgeries had also been reminded of the 
grant and would be featuring this in their next newsletter. A non-Key decision 
had been taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing to temporarily lift the 
“means testing” in respect of applications for stair lifts and modular access 
ramps.  A total of five applications had been received to date, which was 
higher than normal. In addition, the County Council were recruiting 7 
Community Care Officers and work was being done to make the grant 
application process slicker.

Members welcomed the changes and the non-key decision but commented 
that it would be important to reduce underspends. It was noted that an 
underspend was still forecast at the end of the year.

Action point: 

That the Head of Town Centres provides a report that includes statistical 
information and details of the scoping work regarding increasing footfall in the 
four town markets at the next meeting of the Committee.

42. QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 2018/19
The Chairman referred to the active programme of work taking place across 
the District and invited the Cabinet Member for Finance to present the Quarter 
2 Financial Management Report 2018/19.

The Cabinet Member for Finance explained that the report set out the forecast 
outturn position for 2018/19 as at the end of Quarter 2 (30 September 2018). 
The report covered the General Fund Revenue Budget, Housing Revenue 
Account Budget and Capital Programmes, General Fund and HRA. An update 
on the national financial context, including announcements in the Budget 
Statement and the latest position with the Business Rates Pilot were also 
included.

4



Reference was made to the table at 2.2 of the report that summarised, by 
Directorate, the general fund budget position as at 30 September 2018 and 
provided details of the forecast outturn and forecast variances for 2018/19.                     

The forecast position on the general fund revenue budget for 31 March 2019 
was a surplus of £1.269m which was largely due to the success of the 
Business Rates Pilot the Council had taken part in during 2018/19. The pilot 
was for this financial year which would mean that the level of income would 
not continue beyond 31 March 2019.  

The cost of service level currently had a forecast overspend of £681k with a 
large proportion of the variances being “one off” and were not expected to 
continue into future financial years.  

Further reference was made to the careful monitoring and forecasting of the 
business rates pilot during the year which had been undertaken by specialist 
financial advisors and technical officers from each of the participating 
authorities. Based on current projections the additional growth for South 
Kesteven for 2018/19 was forecast to be a net increase of £1.95m over 
budgeted levels. This forecast could change if there were significant impacts 
that affect the business rates base such as high street retail or business 
closures.

The Cabinet Member explained that the Growth Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee were being asked to consider the report and agree the 
recommendations.  

The Chairman thanked the Cabinet Member for his report.  

In response to the Chairman’s query about future reports, the Strategic 
Director for Resources confirmed that monthly monitoring would be 
undertaken from period 8 (November) and that Growth OSC would continue to 
receive a quarterly report. 

Members sought clarification on the following areas:

 Reference was made to Appendix F – HRA Capital programme and 
whether it was usual for there to be so few variances and how budgets 
were monitored.
  
It was noted that at Q2, variances would not be expected.  Variances 
driven by the progress of projects and works would probably appear later 
in the year.

 Clarification on the “one-off” costs of £710k arising from the Senior 
Management Restructure and the number of people affected.  

5



It was noted that the last Senior Management Restructure had been 
undertaken a number of years ago. The £710k “one off” costs were as a 
result of the implementation of the new Senior Management Team and 
related to the termination costs of affected posts. It was important to note 
that the payback period was just over 2 years and that the full year saving 
of the new structure would be £300k.

 A query was raised on the £45k variance in respect of vehicle repairs.

It was noted that the £45k would primarily be in respect of larger vehicles 
reaching the end of their expected lifetime such as refuse trucks.

 Members sought further clarification on the Business Rates pilot scheme 
and whether the Government could or would claim back the £1.95m, 
whether other local authorities had also benefitted from the scheme and 
how long the pilot would last.

It was noted that the pilot was for a year and there had been around 20 
local authorities taking part. The initial pilot scheme had been for 100% 
retention, but the next pilot would be for 75% retention.  An application to 
be included in the 75% pilot scheme had been submitted. Realistically, it 
was seen as a one off gain and the Council was not expecting to be 
included in the next pilot scheme. The outcome in respect of the 
applications was expected to be around 6 December 2018.

Further clarification was sought on whether rebates had been factored in 
to the £1.95m.  It was noted that the appeals had slowed down but there 
was a projection of around 4.7% for potential appeals had been factored 
into the £1.95m.

 In response to a Member’s query, the Strategic Director for Resources 
confirmed that the figures in the report were a projection to year end.

 Discussion then took place on the new build programme and whether 
these properties were for new Council properties and if so, how many 
would be built. Members also queried whether they would be subject to 
Right to Buy.

The Committee was informed that the new build programme did relate to 
new Council properties. The Government was also lifting the cap on the 
HRA which would enable more affordable housing to be built and the 
facility to borrow monies for further building. The HRA monies were ring 
fenced and completely separate of the other Council functions.

 Clarification was sought on the staffing budget under spend of £219K in 
respect of how many posts this referred to, whether there were 
understaffed areas of the Council and whether agency staff were being 
used.

6



The Strategic Director for Resources explained that a number of the 
vacant posts were as a result of delivering services differently. Some 
posts were being kept vacant until such time as it was clear there would 
be no detrimental impact on service delivery. The use of agency staff had 
reduced but some areas within the Council were experiencing difficulty in 
recruiting qualified people for posts such as Legal Services and the 
requirement for a market force salary.  

 A Member queried what the projected amount of Reserves would be at 
the end of the financial year.

Members were informed that the level of the working balance was forecast 
to be £2.8m at 31 March 2019.  

A number of discretionary reserves with balances totalling just under £9m 
were in place. The Pension Reserve was separate with a balance of just 
over £3m. The Committee was given re-assurance that there were healthy 
reserve balances. In addition the Committee was informed that the 
Cinema Project was on track.  

 Discussion then ensued on where invested funds were placed, whether 
consideration had been given to the potential impact on sterling pressures 
that might be experienced as a result of Brexit over the next few months.  

The Committee was informed that the invested funds were placed in a 
number of areas, some overseas and some within the UK. Members 
queried whether they could be provided with an overview of investment 
balances at the next meeting and were reminded that this was in the 
Governance and Audit Committee remit. It was suggested that a report 
recently presented to Council could be circulated to Members  

 A Member then queried whether a report on Performance Monitoring and 
KPI’s would be submitted at a future meeting and it was noted that a 
report would be requested.

 In response to a query about the funds allocated to the creation of 
InvestSK and the Committee was informed that it was too early to see any 
indicative outcomes yet, but the Committee would be monitoring it going 
forward.

The Chairman thanked everyone for their input into the considerations of the 
Q2 Financial Report and also thanked everyone in anticipation for the work 
that was still to be done.  

7



Action Points:

a) That the finance report recently presented to Governance and Audit 
Committee that included details on investment balances be circulated 
to Members of the Committee.

b) That the Committee receives a report on Performance Monitoring and 
KPI’s at a future meeting.

Conclusions:

Following an in-depth review of the comments and figures contained in the 
report, the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee:

a) Noted that officers continued to identify actions and were taking 
measures to effectively manage the overall budget in order to reduce 
the impact of any adverse projected pressures that could result in 
overspends.

b) Noted the Governments proposed changes in respect of business 
rates, the current performance of the business rates pilot and other 
Budget announcements.

Recommendation: 

The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee therefore recommends the 
proposed allocation of the projected business rate financial growth to Cabinet.

43. CLOSE OF MEETING
The Chairman reminded the Committee that the Budget Report for 2019/20 
would be presented to the Budget Meeting scheduled for Thursday 10 
January 2019.  

The meeting closed at 11.28am.

8



Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
13 February 2019

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke
The Deputy Leader of the Council

        

Quarter 1 and 2 Performance Monitoring 2018/19
This paper sets out performance reporting for quarter 1 and 2 for the financial year 2018/19. It 
details proposals for transforming how performance will be reported and managed in the future to 
align it to the corporate strategy and ensure high quality services for our customers.   

Report Author

Victoria Brackenbury, Organisational Development and Change Manager

01476 406249

Victoria.brackenbury@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Competitiveness Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Elaine Pepper, Head of Organisational Development 16 January 2019

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Assistant Chief Executive, 
Transformation and Change 17 January 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 30 January 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Notes the content of the report and support the ongoing transformation of 
performance management.

9

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 At the meeting on 13 June 2018 an update was provided to Growth Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on quarter 4 performance monitoring. This report details the performance of 
the organisation against its corporate performance indicators for the period 1 April 2018 to 
31 June 2018 (Quarter 1) and 1July 2018 to 30 September 2018 (Quarter 2). 

1.2 The performance levels achieved are set out in appendix 1 and 2 to this report. It should 
be noted that all but two performance indicators are performing at or above their targets 
and are therefore in the green category. 

1.3 Targets set against revenue collection obligations including Council tax, non-domestic 
rates and rent collections are on track to meet their targets.

1.4 Occupancy rates of retail units in town centres have exceeded their target in both quarter 
1 and 2. This supports SKDC’s vision to grow the district and encourage new business 
into the area. 

1.5 Two measures out of 21 performance indicators are not currently achieving their target. 
Performance measure CP21: ‘percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling 
and composting’ is within the amber threshold due to the ongoing issue of contamination. 
The levels of recycling reflect the improving rates of green waste participation at a time 
when contamination of the dry materials recycling has become an increasing problem. A 
number of improvement initiatives include the food waste trial and recycling bin sticker 
contamination campaign. The newly approved recycling strategy also sets out new aims 
removing the objective of a single recycling target being now more about overall value for 
money and innovation.

1.6 Measure CP19: ‘The number of apprenticeships hosted within SKDC’ has dropped below 
the levels expected. A review is being completed to ensure that the use of apprenticeships 
within the Council is effective and delivers value. The reason for this planned change is to 
move away from lower level apprenticeships at level 2 and 3 (GCSE / A Level equivalent) 
to higher level added value apprenticeships at Degree and Masters Level. Work is 
underway to better utilise the apprentice levy. This is ring fenced funding for 
apprenticeship training costs in order to support the continuous professional development 
of Officers and to support succession planning. The five apprenticeships that ended in 
quarter 2 saw 3 Officers move to permanent roles, 1 Officer move to a fixed term contract 
and 1 Officer resign to pursue an alternative career. 

1.7 In September 2018 the Transformation and Organisation Development teams were 
streamlined, bringing them under one team; Organisational Development and Change. 
The focus of this team is targeted around project delivery, performance management and 
organisational development. In December 2018, two Performance Lead Officers were 
recruited in order to implement and manage a new performance management system. 
The officers will also develop a new performance culture to improve service delivery 
across the Council.

1.8 This will be achieved by:

 Leading on the design, implementation and ongoing management of a new 
performance management framework.

 Analysing data produced by the performance framework and making recommendations 
on actions to take where there are opportunities to improve or to develop new 
initiatives.

10



 Producing and presenting management reports and information to key stakeholders.

 Supporting the delivery of the Council’s corporate strategy.

 The use of predictive analytics. This is the practice of extracting information from 
existing data sets in order to determine patterns, identify new trends and enable better 
planning of services and staffing taking into account seasonal requirements such as 
green waste collections and council tax billing.

1.9   A revised suite of measures will be developed that underpin the new corporate strategy 
and enable Members to track activities against the key themes of the corporate strategy: 
Growth, Agility and Competitiveness.

Work completed to date 
1.10 Officers are currently trialling new performance management technologies. The current 

performance management system allows us to view performance once it has taken place, 
therefore displaying a retrospective view of the world. In order to become pro-active, the 
use of live performance dashboards and predictive analytics will enable managers to view 
real time performance data, allowing them to react quicker to meet the demands of 
customers and enable increased agility in the way services are delivered. This information 
will lead to improved efficiency, reduced risk, evidenced based decision making, identified 
market trends and effective planning for future service delivery.  

1.11 Work is currently underway to implement and make use of live performance reporting and 
predictive analytics. Once a prototype solution is developed within Customer Services and 
Revenues and Benefits we will use the feedback from these services to review the 
effectiveness of the solution with a view to extending it across the organisation.   

1.12 The dashboards present live information and automatically update, reducing the demand 
on Officers to manually produce reports which can be time consuming. The data contained 
within them can be explored and presented in a range of formats, enabling Officers to 
have clear data visualisation, dynamically interact with the data and predict and respond to 
customer demand.

1.13 Predictive analytics can be used within the dashboards, effectively enabling Officers to 
model different scenarios to increase understanding and impact of any changes which 
could be made. For example, the impact of a change in resource levels or a shift in 
demand from one access channel to another. 

2 Financial Implications 
2.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from the report.  The development of new 

performance management framework will be funded from budgeted resources.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources 

3 Legal and Governance Implications 
3.1 There are no legal or democratic implications arising from this report.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Ben Bix, Head of Governance

11



Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
3.2 There are no foreseen issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting 

from this report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be address as 
required.

4 Risk and Mitigation
4.1 The contents of this report do not expose the authority to any additional risks.

5 Community Safety Implications 
5.1 None

6 Other Implications (where significant)
6.1 The implementation of a new performance management framework will see the 

Organisational Development and Change Team working with Officers across the 
organisation to review performance.  Agreement on resourcing will be made with the 
relevant Assistant Director and Head of Service.

7 Background Papers
7.1 None

8 Appendices
8.1 Appendix 1 – Performance data quarter 1

8.2 Appendix 2 – Performance data quarter 2

Date of Publication on Forward Plan 
(if required)

N/a

Previously Considered by: N/a

Report Timeline: 

Decision date  N/a

12



Appendix 1 – Performance data quarter 1

Key used for this report 

March 2018 April 2018 May 2018 June 2018

Current 
RAG

Performance Measure Description Frequency
Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

Annual

2018/19

CP01 Number of households on the 
councils housing register assessed as 
having a housing need.

Months 750 743 719 701 Data only 

CP02 Number of households living in 
temporary accommodation

Quarters 33 34 Data only

Status

Alert

Warning

On track

Data Only

13



Current 
RAG

Performance Measure Description Frequency

March 2018 April 2018 May 2018 June 2018 Annual

2018/19

Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

CP03 CT base growth - Percentage 
growth from baseline

Yearly 46,519.3 Data only

CP04 Total rateable value of 
businesses in the district

Half-Yearly 108,902,936 Data only

CP05 % of Council Tax collected Months 98.81% 98.80% 10.66% 10.80% 20.09% 20.25% 29.33% 29.45% 98.80%

CP06 % of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected

Months 99.06% 98.70% 14.88% 14.75% 23.68% 24.30% 33.18% 33.00% 98.90%

CP07 % of Rent collected Months 98.17% 98.5% 7.12% 5.44% 15% 15.02% 23.06% 23.07% 98.5%

CP08 % of planning applications 
approved

Months 93.69% 94.17% 92.09% 94.34% Data only 

CP09 Processing of planning 
applications: Major applications

Months 97.22% 60.00% 100.00% 60.00% 100.00% 60.00% 100.00% 60.00% 60.00%

CP10 Processing of planning 
applications: Minor applications

Months 82.40% 65.00% 88.89% 65.00% 78.00% 65.00% 85.14% 65.00% 65.00%

CP11 Processing of planning 
applications: Other applications

Months 85.63% 80.00% 78.75% 80.00% 83.97% 80.00% 87.50% 80.00% 80.00%

CP12 Average time taken to process 
planning applications - Majors

Months 180 202.60 150 131
Data only

14



Current 
RAG

Performance Measure Description Frequency

March 2018 April 2018 May 2018 June 2018 Annual

2018/19

Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

Quarters 180 219

Months 83 86.41 88 83.9
CP13 Average time taken to process 
planning applications  - Non-majors

Quarters 83 83.8
Data only

CP14 Occupancy rates of retail units 
in town centres

Quarters 94.9% 90% 93.2% 90% 90%

CP15 Number of vacant business 
properties

Quarters 367 365 Data only

CP16 % of Food establishments in 
the area achieving 3 (generally 
satisfactory) or above in food 
hygiene rating scheme

Months 98.48% 97.00% 98.37% 97.00% 98.68% 97.00% 98.68% 97.00% 97.00%

CP17 % of streets that meet clean 
streets standard

Quarters 88.68% 0.65% Data only

CP18 Number of fly tipping incidents 
received

Months 870 76 145 222 Data only

CP19 Number of apprenticeships 
hosted within SKDC

Quarters 12 14 7 14 14

CP20 % of the district with superfast 
broadband coverage

Yearly 94% Data only

15



Current 
RAG

Performance Measure Description Frequency

March 2018 April 2018 May 2018 June 2018 Annual

2018/19

Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

CP21 Percentage of household waste 
sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting (formerly NI 192)

Months 38.92% 45.00% 36.86% 45.00% 47.77% 45.00% 41.10% 45.00% 45.00%

16



Appendix 2 – Performance data quarter 2

Key used for this report 

June 2018 July 2018 August 2018 September 2018
Current 

RAG
Performance Measure Description Frequency

Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

Annual

2018/2019

CP01 Number of households on the 
councils housing register assessed as 
having a housing need.

Months 701 700 669 683 Data only

CP02 Number of households living in 
temporary accommodation

Quarters 34 37 Data only

CP03 CT base growth - Percentage 
growth from baseline

Years Data only

Status

Alert

Warning

On track

Data Only

17



Current 
RAG

Performance Measure Description Frequency

June 2018 July 2018 August 2018 September 2018 Annual

2018/2019
Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

CP04 Total rateable value of 
businesses in the district

Half Years 109,137,987 Data only

CP05 % of Council Tax collected Months 29.33% 29.45% 38.66% 38.85% 48.05% 48.25% 57.18% 57.60% 98.80%

CP06 % of Non-domestic Rates 
Collected

Months 33.18% 33.00% 41.79% 41.60% 50.20% 50.10% 58.86% 59.10% 98.90%

CP07 % of Rent collected Months 23.06% 23.07% 32.82% 30.45% 40.62% 41.05% 47.91% 49.35% 98.5%

CP08 % of planning applications 
approved

Months 94.34% 94.34% 93.31% 92.95% Data only

CP09 Processing of planning 
applications: Major applications

Months 100.00% 60.00% 100.00% 60.00% 100.00% 60.00% 100.00% 60.00% 60.00%

CP10 Processing of planning 
applications: Minor applications

Months 85.14% 65.00% 86.41% 65.00% 86.82% 65.00% 87.43% 65.00% 65.00%

CP11 Processing of planning 
applications: Other applications

Months 87.50% 80.00% 88.56% 80.00% 88.33% 80.00% 87.47% 80.00% 80.00%

Months 131 127 93.31 184.05 Data only
CP12 Average time taken to process 
planning applications - Majors

Quarters 219 457.89

Months 83.9 82.37 82.61 84 Data only
CP13 Average time taken to process 
planning applications  - Non-majors

Quarters 83.83 82.56

18



Current 
RAG

Performance Measure Description Frequency

June 2018 July 2018 August 2018 September 2018 Annual

2018/2019
Value Target Value Target Value Target Value Target

CP14 Occupancy rates of retail units 
in town centres

Quarters 93.2% 90% 92.5% 90% 90%

CP15 Number of vacant business 
properties

Quarters 365 365 Data only

CP16 % of Food establishments in 
the area achieving 3 (generally 
satisfactory) or above in food 
hygiene rating scheme

Months 98.68% 97.00% 98.66% 97.00% 98.56% 97.00% 98.77% 97.00% 97.00%

CP17 % of streets that meet clean 
streets standard

Quarters 0.65% 98.46% Data only

CP18 Number of fly tipping incidents 
received

Months 222 87 413 506 Data only

CP19 Number of apprenticeships 
hosted within SKDC

Quarters 12 14 7 14 14

CP20 % of the district with superfast 
broadband coverage

Years Data only

CP21 Percentage of household waste 
sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting (formerly NI 192)

Months 41.10% 45.00% 41.05% 45.00% 41.02% 45.00% 40.98% 45.00% 45.00%

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Growth Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
13 February 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring Report 2018/19

This report sets out the forecast outturn position for 2018/19 as at the end of Quarter 3 (31 
December 2018).  The report covers the following areas:

• General Fund Revenue Budget (Section 3)
• Housing Revenue Account Budget (Section 4)
• Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA (Section 5)

Report Author

Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Financial Services

 01476 406208

 Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources 4 February 2019

Approved by: Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director - Resources 5 February 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 5 February 2019

Recommendation to the decision maker 

Growth Overview & Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 
1. Review the comments and figures contained in this report and identify any 

variances that require further action.

21

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council, having set a balanced budget at the start of the financial year, 

needs to ensure the delivery of this budget is achieved. Consequently, there 
is a requirement to regularly monitor progress so corrective action can be 
taken when required.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview 
and Scrutiny

2.1 Growth OSC is asked to review the quarter 3 budget monitoring position as 
at 31 December 2018.

3 General Fund Revenue Budget
3.1 The 2018/19 original general revenue budget approved by Council on 1 

March 2018 was set at £17.161m, this budget has been amended during the 
year to allow for budget adjustments.  The budget as at 31 December 2018 
is £19.353m as a result of the following amendments being approved during 
the year:

Revenue Budget amendment £’000
2017/18 Budget Carry forward and set asides 694
Environment SK 40
Deliver SK 100
One off costs arising from the Senior Management Restructure* 866
Stamford Arts Centre Bequest 33

Allocation of Business Rates Income 459

*This is the actual cost incurred following the implementation of the new senior management 
arrangements.  The full year saving of the new structure will be £300k for the General Fund 
and the payback period is 2 years and 10 months. 

3.2 The following table summarises the general fund budget position by 
Directorate as at 31 December 2018.  A revenue monitoring statement is 
attached at Appendix A with detailed variance analysis as at 31 December 
2018 attached at Appendix B. 

22



Quarter 3
2018/19

 

Original 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast
Outturn                           

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000
Priority Focus    
Commercial and Operations 6,296 6,359 6,448 89
Growth 6,544 6,940 7,423 483
Resources 4,321 6,054 6,321 267
Net Cost of Service 17,161 19,353 20,192 839
    
Interest and Investment Income (250) (250) (292) (42)
Interest Payable 52 52 0 (52)
Minimum Revenue Provision 247 247 154 (93)
Depreciation (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) 0
Local Council Tax Support Scheme Grant 22 22 22 0
Reserves (2,206) (3,769) (3,663) 106
Grants (151) (321) (391) (70)
Total Net Cost of Service 11,475 11,934 12,622 688
    
Business Rates (4,400) (4,400) (4,400) 0
Business Rates Growth and s31 grants (250) (709) (2,200) (1,491)
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit 321 321 321 0
Transfer to Regeneration Reserve 0 0 803 803
Council Tax (7,146) (7,146) (7,146) 0
Total Funding (11,475) (11,934) (12,622) (688)
(Surplus)/Deficit 0 0 0 0
     

3.3 The above table shows a small number of changes since the table was last 
presented to the OSC as part of the quarter 2 monitoring report:

 Business rates growth and s31 grants – this budget has been increased by 
£459k to offset the increase to the growth budget for the additional business 
rates income allocation, £149k for one-off expenditure, £50k for small 
business grant and £260k for priority growth projects in 2018/19.

 Reserves and Grants – this budget has increased to reflect one-off funding 
changes between quarters 2 and 3, for example, redundancy costs.

 Regeneration Reserve – transfer to reserves of additional business rates 
income for use in future years.

3.4 The overall forecast is a break even position at 31 March 2019.  The surplus 
forecast at Q2 has been allocated as set out above.

3.5   At total net cost of service level, there is currently a forecast overspend of 
£688k. A detailed breakdown and analysis of this variance is shown at 
Appendix A.  As can be seen from the table at Appendix A, a large proportion 
of the variances (£543k which is 79% of total variance) are one off and are not 
expected to continue into future financial years.  

23



3.6 The main changes since the Q2 report are as follows:

 Growth - Planning fee and pre-planning fee income has increased by £125k 
due to an increase in the number of applications anticipated to be received 
during the remainder of the year.

 Resources - the procurement savings anticipated to be achieved by the 
council in 2018/19 have been reduced from £200k to £20k resulting in a 
variance of £180k.

 Resources - The cost incurred in the implementation of an integrated HR and 
Payroll system and additional in-year corporate licence fees have resulted in 
an overspend of £130k which has been offset by an increase in the recharge 
to the HRA of £26k.

 Resources - Increased forecast salary underspends of £173k due to vacant 
posts have been offset by an increase in agency and recruitment costs.

 Resources - It has been estimated that the council will receive an additional 
£111k in council tax and housing benefit subsidy grant.

3.7 The regular forecasting will continue for the remainder of the financial year in 
order to accurately track the spend and put in place mitigating actions where 
possible.  

3.8 A summary of the position for each Directorate is shown below:

Commercial and Operations
3.8.1 National fuel prices have increased over and above the level budgeted for 

during 2018/19 - resulting in an estimated overspend of £80k, which is being 
funded from the Waste and Recycling initiatives reserve.  Additional 
provision has been factored in to future years.

3.8.2 There is a forecast overspend of £45k on the vehicle repairs budget as a 
result of the number of external repairs that have been undertaken due to 
the capacity of the workshop and specialist nature of the works required. 

3.8.3 There has been a £47k saving from allocated funding to undertake additional 
flood prevention projects during 2018/19 as this is no longer required since 
the programme of works has been finalised.

3.8.4 Garden Waste income has exceeded the budget by £48k following 28,074 
households renewing their subscription and 914 new households signing up 
to the service.  

3.8.5 To ensure posts are covered to meet health and safety requirements within 
the street scene service area during periods of staff absence, there is a 
forecast overspend of £60k on casual staff payments.

Growth
3.8.6 The Council allocated £3.9m of capital budget for property investment 

acquisition opportunities which have not yet been identified.  This has 
resulted in a variance of £93k in the investment strategy income budget.

3.8.7 Investment into Grantham market has increased in accordance with the 
Council’s priorities but this is not yet reflected in the levels of income. In 

24



Stamford the options to provide additional stalls have been investigated, but 
an acceptable solution has not yet been found.

3.8.8 There has been a reduction in the level of rental income received from third 
parties for the rental of council office accommodation, which has resulted in 
a loss of income of £43k.  The council has been able to utilise the additional 
space to accommodate council officers whilst the St Peter’s Hill Public 
Realm work is completed.

3.8.9 The budgeted increase in car parking income is currently not being 
achieved.  There has been a review of car parks that has resulted in some 
additional capacity being created during the year although there has been no 
material increase in income. The income budget in 2019/20 has been 
reduced to reflect this.

3.8.10 The 2018/19 budget included £100k income relating to the transfer of non-
dwelling HRA assets to the General Fund.  There has been a deferral of this 
proposal whilst the identified sites are being assessed for their suitability for 
housing development which has increased the variance forecast at quarter 2 
from £75k to £100k 

3.8.11 There has been a significant increase in the demand for emergency 
accommodation within the homelessness service, which has resulted in a 
forecast overspend of £43k.  Work is currently being undertaken to mitigate 
future costs.

3.8.12 Planning fee and pre-planning - this income has increased due to an 
increase in the number of applications anticipated to be received during the 
remainder of the year.

Resources
3.8.13 The 2018/19 budget included a number of savings proposals which have not 

been achieved.  This has resulted in the following forecast variances; £180k 
procurement savings, £100k shared services, £75k agency expenditure, 
£50k utilities, £50k service reviews, £45k overtime, £18k call out payments, 
£45k removal of vacant posts, £30k consultancy and £25k subscriptions.  

3.8.14 There is an increase in the forecast underspend from £219k in quarter 2 to 
£392k of one-off savings from staffing budgets due to a number of vacant 
posts in Revenues and Benefits, ICT, Transformation, Legal and Customer 
Services. This has been partly offset by achieving the corporate workforce 
efficiency target for Resources, agency spend and recruitment costs.

3.8.15 The cost incurred in the implementation of the Itrent HR and Payroll system 
and additional in-year Civica license fees have resulted in an overspend of 
£130k which has been offset by an increase in the recharge to the HRA of 
£26k.

3.8.16 It has been estimated that the council will receive an additional £111k in 
council tax and housing benefit subsidy grant.

25



3.8.17 White Space application initiative has not been implemented during 2018/19 
due to alternative options being reviewed resulting in an under spend of 
£70k.

4 Housing Revenue Account
4.1 The original budget for 2018/19 was set at a surplus for the year of £6.668m. 

The budgeted surplus is transferred to the reserves in order to provide 
additional internal funding for the HRA capital programme.

4.2 The budget is adjusted in year to allow for budget virements, creation of set-
asides and centralisation of key budget headings. The forecast surplus has 
reduced to £5.987m which has resulted in a forecast overspend of £518k.  
The detailed HRA monitoring statement is attached at Appendix C.  

Quarter 3
2018/19

 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000
Expenditure 16,183 16,346 16,809 463
Income (25,439) (25,439) (25,354) 85
Net Cost of Service (9,256) (9,093) (8,545) 548

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,816 2,816 2,816 0
Interest and Investment Income (228) (228) (258) (30)
DEFICIT (SURPLUS) FOR THE YEAR 
ON THE HRA (6,668) (6,505) (5,987) 518
     

4.3 As documented at Appendix D the forecast deficit as at 31 December 2018 
is impacted by a number of both positive and negative variances.  The most 
significant variances which have impacted on the reduced surplus position 
are as follows:

 The income expected from housing rents is £150k below budget due to 
estimated write-offs of £120k and the void rate being higher than 
expected.  This is partly offset by forecast additional income of £65k from 
services and facilities charges.

 There is a forecast overspend of £149k of the repairs and maintenance 
budget due to an increase in material costs and reactive works and the 
work force efficiency not being achieved due to vacancies being lower 
than anticipated.  Increased income from rechargeable works has slightly 
offset this.

 The workforce efficiency of £94k has also not been achieved on the 
Supervision and Management budget due to vacant posts being lower 
than anticipated. 

26



 Recharges from General Fund will increase by £294k as additional 
services have been provided by Transformation, Communications and 
Customer Services, and new IT systems have been implemented across 
the Council.

5 Capital Programme

5.1 The original capital budget for 2018/19 was set at £14.839m.  The budget is 
adjusted during the year as new projects are identified.  The updated 
position of £25.478m is shown in the ‘Adjusted Budget’ column in the table 
below.  A summary of the budget changes that have been approved during 
the year are as follows:

Approval Date Capital Budget Adjustment £’000
June 2018 Budget carry forwards 528
July 2018 Grounds Maintenance Vehicles 450
July 2018 St Peter’s Hill Public Realm 1,661
Sept 2018 Property Acquisition 8,000

5.2 The following table summarises the general fund capital budget position as 
at 31 December 2018.  The capital budget has a forecast underspend of 
£6.285m which has reduced the requirement to use £3.81m of reserves 
during the financial year. 

5.3 It is anticipated that there will be requests to carry forward the underspent 
budgets and associated funding to 2019/20 and these will be considered at 
outturn of the financial year.  

5.4 A detailed general fund capital monitoring statement is attached at 
Appendix E which provides details of the progress of the schemes.  

GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - DECEMBER 2018

 

Original 
Budget 
£000

Adjusted 
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

EXPENDITURE SUMMARY     
Growth 13,879 23,726 17,421 (6,305)
Commercial and Operations 835 1,585 1,585 0
Resources 125 167 187 20
 14,839 25,478 19,193 (6,285)
Financing Analysis     
Prudential Borrowing (2,000) (10,000) (8,000) 2,000
Use of Reserves (10,917) (13,513) (9,703) 3,810
Capital Receipts (788) (788) (788) 0
Capital Grants and Contributions (1,134) (1,177) (702) 475
 (14,839) (25,478) (19,193) 6,285
NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0

27



5.5 As documented in Appendix E there are a number of both positive and 
negative variances which form the £6.285m underspend.  The most 
significant variances are as follows:  

 The balance of the commercial investments acquisition budget is not 
currently forecast to be spent during this financial year resulting in an 
underspend of £3.9m

 There is a £1.4m underspend on the Wherrys Lane Bourne housing 
project.  The project commenced in October 2018 which is a 12-month 
programme and therefore it will be necessary to carry forward the funding 
into 2019/20. 

 Initial works have commenced on the Public Realm project, but 
completion is forecast to be June 2019, resulting in an estimated £300k 
carry forward of this budget into next year.

 The Council has received £797k of disabled facilities grant funding which 
is currently forecast to be underspent by £477k.  Mandatory DFGs 
require a referral from Lincolnshire County Council Occupational Therapy 
Team.  

5.6 The following table summarises the HRA capital budget position as at 31 
December 2018.  The capital budget was set at £10.004m and currently has 
a forecast underspend of £4.307m which has reduced the in-year transfer 
from reserves.  This underspend mainly relates to the property development 
budget spend which is dependent upon sites being identified for investment.  
It is anticipated that there will be a request to carry forward the underspent 
budget and associated funding to 2019/20.  A detailed HRA capital 
monitoring statement is attached at Appendix F which provides details of 
the progress of the schemes.  

HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - DECEMBER 2018

 

Original 
Budget 
£000

Adjusted 
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

HRA Investment Programme     
     
Stock Improvements & New Build Programme 9,680 9,680 5,403 (4,277)
Purchase of Vehicles 324 324 324 0
 10,004 10,004 5,727 (4,277)
Financing Analysis     
Major Repairs Reserve (4,214) (4,214) (4,157) 57
Property Development Reserve (5,000) (5,000) (870) 4,130
HRA Capital Receipts (790) (790) (700) 90
 (10,004) (10,004) (5,727) 4,277
NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0

28



6 Reasons for the Recommendations(s)
6.1 As part of good governance, Growth OSC is asked to review the budget 

monitoring report as at 31 December 2018.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 These are included in the report

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - 
Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 As part of good governance it is important members are kept updated in 

respect of the financial position of the Council expenditure during the course 
of the year.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Ben Bix, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 Not applicable

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks 

have been identified.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 Not applicable

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 Not applicable

13 Background Papers
13.1 Determination of Budget 2018/19 and indicative budgets to 20/21 – General 

Fund, Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes 
Report 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget
%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf

29

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s19700/CFM453Budget%20COUNCIL%20V2.pdf


Outturn Position 2017/18 report 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20657/CFM459%20outt
urn%20v6%20new%20template.pdf

Financial Management Report for 2018/19 – April – June (Quarter 1) 
Monitoring Information Report 
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%2
0201819%2025th-Jul-
2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committe
e.pdf?T=9

Quarter 2 Financial Monitoring Report 2018/19

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monit
oring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix A – General Fund Revenue Variance Analysis (over £15k)

Appendix B – 2018/19 Savings – Quarter 3

Appendix C – HRA Forecast Position 2018/19 – Quarter 3

Appendix D – HRA Revenue Variance Analysis (over £15k)

Appendix E – General Fund Capital Programme Variance Analysis

Appendix F – HRA Capital Programme Variance Analysis

Date of Publication on Forward Plan 
(if required)

Not required

Previously Considered by: Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

28 November 2018

Report 
Timeline: 

Decision date  13 February 2019

30

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20657/CFM459%20outturn%20v6%20new%20template.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20657/CFM459%20outturn%20v6%20new%20template.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/b6222/Q1%20Financial%20outturn%20201819%2025th-Jul-2018%2010.00%20Growth%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s21783/CFM478%20Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr2%20Final%2020.11.18.pdf


APPENDIX A
Revenue Forecast Position 2018/19 – Quarter 3

Original 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000
Forecast                           

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000
Priority Focus    
Commercial and Operations 6,296 6,359 6,448 89
Growth 6,544 6,940 7,423 483
Resources 4,321 6,054 6,321 267
Net Cost of Service 17,161 19,353 20,192 839
    
Interest and investment Income (250) (250) (292) (42)
Interest Payable 52 52 0 (52)
Minimum Revenue Provision 247 247 154 (93)
Depreciation (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) 0
Local Council Tax Support Scheme Grant 22 22 22 0

13,832 16,024 16,676 652
Income from Reserves & Grants   
Events & Festivals (160) (160) (140) 20
Apprenticeships (65) (65) (36) 29
Economic Development & Growth (120) (120) (120) 0
Community Fund (150) (150) (108) 42
Ward Member Fund (56) (56) (56) 0
Big Clean (200) (200) (185) 15
Invest to Save (332) (332) (195) 137
Pension Reserve (797) (797) (811) (14)
Building Control Trading Account 22 22 25 3
Grantham SEA 50 50 24 (26)
Langtoft SEA (1) (1) (1) 0
Local Priorities Reserve  0 (664) (664) 0
Service Improvement Reserve  0 (866) (866) 0
Waste & Recycling Initiatives 0 0 (80) (80)
Stamford Art Centre Bequest 0 (33) (33) 0
Insurance Reserve 0 0 (20) (20)
Transfer from NNDR volatility reserve (397) (397) (397) 0
Grants (151) (321) (391) (70)
 (2,357) (4,090) (4,054) 36
Total Net Cost of Service 11,475 11,934 12,622 688

   
Business Rates (4,400) (4,400) (4,400) 0
Business Rates Pilot Gain (250) (709) (2,200) (1,491)
Collection Fund Deficit 321 321 321 0
Transfer to Regeneration Reserve 0 0 803 803
Council Tax (7,146) (7,146) (7,146) 0
Total Funding (11,475) (11,934) (12,622) (688)
Total Variance (to)/from reserves 0 0 0 0

31



APPENDIX B
General Fund Revenue Variance Analysis (over £15k)

Variances by Directorate

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

Recurring
£000

One-
off
£000

Commercial and Operations  
Fuel – The average national increase in fuel prices has been 
above the 5% level that was budgeted for.  Additional provision 
has been factored in for future years. The overspend which will 
be funded from earmarked reserves as shown in Appendix A.

80 80 

Vehicle Repairs - An increase in the number of external repairs 
due to the capacity of the workshop and specialist nature of the 
works required.   

45 45 

Flood Prevention - Allocated funding to undertake additional 
projects during 2018/19 is no longer required since the 
programme of works has been finalised.

(47) (47)

Environmental Services- A reduction in the use of contractors has 
resulted in a saving against the budget.

(30) (30) 

Big Clean - The second permanent Big Clean crew were not 
recruited until June which has resulted in an underspend 

(40) (40)

Green Waste Collection –Additional income has been received, 
with 28,074 households renewing their subscription for 2018/19 
and 914 new households joining the service throughout the year. 

(48) (48) 

Accident repairs costs have been incurred during the year, these 
costs will be funded from the insurance reserve as shown in 
Appendix A.

20 20

Waste and Recycling – There is an overspend on wages due to 
staff absence with posts needing to be covered to meet health 
and safety requirements.  

60 60

Waste and Recycling – There is an overspend on pensions due 
to auto-enrolment, the pension costs of these posts have been 
budgeted in 2019/20.

20 20

Growth  
Income from Commercial Properties – New opportunities are 
being actively pursued, however no further investment purchases 
have been made during the year therefore the income budget will 
not be met.

93 93 

Cinema Development - The updated timeline of this scheme has 
resulted in the rental income from the retail units not being 
achieved. The budget for 2019/20 has been updated to reflect 
this.

30 30 

Transfer of non-dwelling HRA assets to the General Fund - there 
has been a deferral of this proposal whilst the identified sites are 
being assessed for their suitability for housing development.

100 100

Markets – Investment into Grantham market has increased in 
accordance with the Council’s priorities but this is not yet 
reflected in the levels of income. In Stamford the options to 
provide additional stalls have been investigated, but an 
acceptable solution has not yet been found.

42 42  

32



Variances by Directorate

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

Recurring
£000

One-
off
£000

Council Offices - Loss of rental income following the tenant’s not 
renewing their lease arrangements.

43 43

Council Offices - In year changes to lease arrangement at The 
Maltings has resulted in a saving against the budget.

(33) (33)

Industrial Estates - Fully occupied units has resulted in additional 
income

(19) (19)

Staffing Costs - Additional costs within Property Services for 
Agency staff during a period of recruitment

24 24

Car Parks - A change in enforcement hours has resulted in a 
reduction in forecast expenditure

(27) (27)

Car Parks- The budgeted increase in car parking income is 
currently not being achieved.  There has been a review of car 
parks that has resulted in some additional capacity being created 
during the year although there has been no material increase in 
income. The income budget in 2019/20 has been reduced.

250 250

Footpath Lighting - Forecast reductions made for street lamp 
replacements following health and safety investment in previous 
years.  This will be set aside at year end for reinvestment in LED 
bulb replacement programme.

(15) (15)  

Cemetery - Additional burial income forecast and transitional 
business rate relief

(17) (17)

Leisure Centres - Additional in year equipment and repairs costs 
at Deepings, Stamford and Grantham has resulted in a forecast 
over spend

40 40 

Homelessness - There has been a significant rise in demand for 
emergency accommodation resulting in a forecast over spend. 
Further review work is currently being undertaken to mitigate 
future costs.

43 43  

Planning and Pre-planning fees – this income has increased due 
to an increase in the number of applications anticipated to be 
received during the remainder of the year.

(125) (125)

Resources  
Income generation from shared service opportunities – a number 
of planning policy officers are seconded to Rutland CC; additional 
opportunities to share have been discounted resulting in the 
income target not being met.

100 100

Procurement – new initiatives have been implemented but due to 
the timelines involved there has been a delay in the achievement 
of these savings and these are now expected to be realised in 
2019/20

180 180

Service reviews – these reviews will be completed in 2019/20 50 50

Corporate consultancy – these savings have not been achieved 
in the current year.

30 30

Agency – the level of vacancies in key posts throughout the year 
has meant that the saving will not be delivered.

75 75

33



Variances by Directorate

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

Recurring
£000

One-
off
£000

White space application – this initiative has not been 
implemented due to alternative options being reviewed which has 
resulted in budget savings

(70) (70)

Utilities –base budgets had already been reduced in line with 
costs prior to this bid being submitted therefore these savings are 
not deliverable

50 50

Removal of vacant posts – savings from the removal of vacant 
posts are reflected in service budgets.

45 45

Corporate overtime and call out payments – the saving built into 
the budget has not been achieved due to the overtime and call 
out requirements of frontline service areas

63 63

Subscriptions – a target £50k budget reduction was set for 
2018/19, £25k has been achieved to date but subscriptions will 
continue to be reviewed as they come due for renewal.

25 25

Administration subsidy grant in respect of benefits administration 
and council tax administration  - an additional grant allocation has 
been received this year

(111) (111)

The Council has entered into a collaborative partnership across 
Lincolnshire to undertake a study into options for sustainable 
housing led growth.

15 15

Staffing budgets - In year forecast savings of vacant posts which 
have been offset by an increase in agency and recruitment costs

24 24

System Costs – Upgrading of the HR and Payroll system 65 65
ICT – Corporate licence fee which was not budgeted 65 65
HRA recharges - Increase in recharge base following realignment 
of costs

(294) (294)

Audit - Changes to planned audit days has resulted in a forecast 
saving. Budgets have also been reduced in future years

(28) (28)

TOTAL VARIANCES 773 145 628
  
Non-directorate variances
Interest and Investment income – additional income has been 
received as investment balances are higher than originally 
anticipated. 

(42) (42)

Interest payable and Minimum Revenue Provision – no additional 
external borrowing has been undertaken 

(145) (145)

Sum of Minor Variances (variances < £15K, this is less than 
1% of net spend) 

102 102

  
TOTAL VARIANCE 688 145 543

34



APPENDIX C
HRA Forecast Position 2018/19 – Quarter 3

2018/19

Budget 
£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000
    
INCOME    
Dwelling Rents (24,439) (24,439) (24,289) 150
Non Dwelling Rents (311) (311) (311) 0
Charges for Services and Facilities (622) (622) (687) (65)
Other Income (67) (67) (67) 0
TOTAL INCOME (25,439) (25,439) (25,354) 85
    
EXPENDITURE    
Repairs and Maintenance 7,907 7,867 8,016 149
Supervision and Management – General 2,783 2,824 3,158 334
Supervision and Management – Special 1,097 1,203 1,185 (18)
HRA share of Corporate and Democratic Costs 460 460 460 0
Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets 3,431 3,431 3,431 0
Debt Management Expenses 35 35 35 0
Provision for bad debts 245 245 245 0
Other Expenditure (Pension Deficit) 225 225 225 0
 Centralised Budgets 0 91 91 0
 HRA Business Managers/Assistant Directors 0 (35) (37) (2)
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 16,183 16,346 16,809 463
    
NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (9,256) (9,093) (8,545) 548
    
Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,816 2,816 2,816 0
Interest and Investment Income (228) (228) (258) (30)
    
DEFICIT (SURPLUS) FOR THE YEAR ON THE 
HRA (6,668) (6,505) (5,987) 518

    
MOVEMENT ON THE HRA BALANCE    
    
(Deficit)/Surplus for the Year 6,668 6,505 5,987 (518)
Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve (Depreciation 
less MRA) (3,101) (3,101) (3,101) 0

Repayment Of Principal (3,222) (3,222) (3,222) 0
Other Reserve Movements 225 225 225 0
Variance - reduction in transfer to reserve 570 407 (111) (518)
     

35



APPENDIX D
HRA Revenue Variance Analysis (over £15k)

VARIANCE ANALYSIS

Forecast 
Variance 
£000

  
Dwelling Rents - The under recovery is due to estimated write-offs of £120k 
for the year and a higher than expected void rate (currently 0.3% over 
budget)

150

Repairs & Maintenance - The over spend is due to increased materials costs 
on reactive repairs and the removal of the budgeted workforce efficiency 
(£94k).  This has been partly offset by income from rechargeable works being 
greater than expected (£39k)

149

Supervision & Management General - Legal fees have increased by £15k 
due to repossession cases.  Removal of budgeted efficiency savings has 
increased the forecast by £50k.  In addition, recharges from General Fund for 
Transformation, Customer Services and Communications have increased by 
£268k due to additional work being undertaken and £26k as a recharge for 
systems upgrade

334

Charges for Services & Facilities - As more general needs dwellings are 
being used for homelessness, additional service charges income is being 
generated (£20k).  A greater number of room hires in the Communal 
Facilities has provided and additional £17k of income. Communal heating 
income is higher due to the increases in the cost of fuel (£14k)

 

(65)

Total 568
Sum of Minor Variances (50)
Total Adverse Variances 518
  

36



APPENDIX E
General Fund Capital Programme Variance Analysis

GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - DECEMBER 2018
2018/19

Scheme Description
Original 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000

Variance Explanations

Purchase of South Kesteven trailer 55 55 55 0  
Property Acquisition 0 8,000 8,000 0
Shop Front Scheme 130 130 130 0  
Cinema Development 5,500 5,400 5,400 0  
Property Investment Strategy 3,900 3,900 0 (3,900) Further acquisition opportunities have not been identified 

therefore it is unlikely this will be spent in this financial year.
Local Authority Controlled Company 2,550 2,800 1,400 (1,400) 12 month build programme, starting in October
Public Realm 0 1,661 1,361 (300) Initial works started in November.  This project is due to 

complete in June 2019
Disabled Facilities Grant 797 797 320 (477) Demand is dependent on referrals from LCC Occupational 

Therapists
Empty Homes Financial Assistance 50 50 0 (50) No applications received.
Essential Home Grant Assistance 75 75 2 (73) Cases under this budget now fall under DFG
Car Park Ticket Machines 150 150 100 (50) All machines are now installed.  Some additional works still to 

be completed.
Car Park Barriers 50 50 0 (50) Still in development awaiting decision to be made.
Deepings Leisure Centre - Boilers 70 70 70 0  
Meres Leisure Centre - PA System 35 35 35 0  
Market Stall Covers 50 50 21 (29) Grantham covers ordered, it is probable that the remaining 

orders will be received in next financial year.
Tourism Signage 50 50 50 0  
Wyndham Park Lighting 25 25 27 2  
Grantham Arts Centre - Theatre Lighting 35 35 37 2  
Wyndham Park Improvements 357 393 401 8 Overspend due to delays and asbestos work, the contingency 

element of the HLF grant will fund 87% of the additional costs.

37



GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - DECEMBER 2018

Variance Explanations
2018/19

Scheme Description
Original 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000

Town Centre Projects - Bourne Core 
Area

0 0 3 3

S106 – CCTV Springfield Road 0 0 9 9
Wheelie Bin Replacements 175 175 175 0  
Pool Vehicles 247 247 247 0  
Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 311 511 511 0  
Vehicle Electric Charging Points 0 39 39 0  
Vehicle Replacement Programme 102 163 163 0  
Financial System Upgrade 50 50 135 85 Additional support required, increased licensing costs and the 

addition of the DB capture module.
Equillogic Server Based Storage 20 20 20 0  
Uninterruptible Power Supply 
Replacement

15 15 15 0  

EnvironmentSk Vehicle purchase 0 450 450 0
ICT Infrastructure - Sandbox Firewall 40 82 17 (65) Review of cyber risks being undertaken, expenditure likely to 

slip into following year pending results of the review.

TOTAL 14,839 25,478 19,193 (6,285)  

38



APPENDIX F
HRA Capital Programme Variance Analysis

HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - SEPTEMBER 2018
2018/19

Scheme Description
Original 
Budget 

£000

Adjusted 
Budget 

£000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£000

Forecast 
Variance 

£000

Variance Explanation

Heating And Ventilation 1,350 1,350 1,230 (120) Reassessing the programme to ensure like for like replacements 
consider tackling fuel poverty initiatives and more efficient ways 
of providing heating has resulted in the programme being longer 
than anticipated.  

Repairs Vehicles 324 324 324 0  
Kitchens & Bathrooms Programmes 1,000 1,000 1,000 0  
Re-Roofing 1,100 1,132 1,132 0  
Electrical Rewires 250 250 250 0  
Replacement Door Programme 80 80 80 0  
External Wall Insulation 0 0 1 1  
New Build Properties 790 758 700 (58) Four schemes to commence in quarter 4, expenditure this year 

will relate to fees and initial on-site works.
Property Development 5,000 5,000 870 (4,130) Purchase of Swinegate site.  Negotiations are progressing on 

five additional sites
Communal Rooms 70 70 100 30 This expenditure was originally expected to be classed as 

revenue expenditure so this overspend will be financed by a 
revenue contribution to capital.

Sewage Refurbishment 40 40 40 0  

TOTAL 10,004 10,004 5,727 (4,277)  

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
13 February 2019

Report of:  Councillor Kelham Cooke, The 
Deputy Leader of the Council

        

Property Investment Policy and Capital Strategy
The Council is embarking on an ambitious capital investment programme and in order to deliver 
this ambition, Cabinet has allocated £10m in the draft 2019/20 capital programme proposals. The 
draft policies are appended to this report for reference and review by the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Report Author

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources

01476 406210

r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Budget and Policy 
Framework

All Wards

Reviewed by: Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director - Resources 1 February 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director - Growth 4 February 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 4 February 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Council the Capital 
Strategy and the Property Investment Policy as set out at Appendix A & B. 

41

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The Council is embarking on an ambitious capital investment programme and in order to 

deliver this ambition, Cabinet has allocated £10m in the draft 2019/20 capital programme 
proposals.  The allocation of this funding, which will be via prudential borrowing will be 
driven and governed by the Property Investment Policy and supported by the Capital 
Strategy. 

1.2 The draft policies are appended to this report for reference and review by the Growth 
OSC.  Cabinet considered these policies at is meeting on 7 February and they will be 
submitted to Council on 1 March for approval as part of the budget framework proposals 
for 2019/20.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 Growth OSC is asked to consider the draft appendices and provide comments 

accordingly.

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Council is required to have a capital framework as an integral part of the annual 

budget framework.  The Capital Strategy is developed as an overarching framework that 
will develop and govern the capital programme to support the delivery of the Council’s 
growth ambitions.  The development of the Property Investment Policy is a framework to 
enable the Council to acquire, develop and undertake strategic development investments 
and provide the supporting framework.

Capital Strategy
3.2 In order to facilitate the delivery of the Council’s growth ambitions it is necessary to 

develop a framework that encapsulates the long term vision and translates this into the 
financial planning process.  Therefore, the Capital Strategy at Appendix A sets out the 
governance with respect to the formation of the capital programme and ensures that due 
consideration is given the affordability, sustainability, risks and rewards and a framework 
for the management and delivery of the capital programme.

3.3 The Capital Strategy sits as the overarching strategic framework with the Property 
Investment Policy, Treasury Management Strategy and the Asset Management Strategy 
all being inextricably linked to it and supporting the delivery of the corporate ambitions.  
The Asset Management Strategy is currently being developed and will be presented to 
Growth OSC at a future meeting.

4 Property Investment Policy
The Property Investment Strategy (PIP) is shown at Appendix B and is an updated version 
of the Commercial Property Investment Strategy which was approved by Cabinet and 
which is intended to replace previously approved version on 13 July 2017 
(http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3498&Ver
=4)

42

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3498&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3498&Ver=4


4.1 The updated PIP is broader in its objectives and includes the following areas within its 
scope:

 Option to purchase tenanted property and carry out landlord functions;
 Option to build or develop property to be let to interested parties;
 Option to acquire land to be developed or make available for development;
 Option to develop existing land or property;
 Option to undertake any other investments for which it has legal powers

4.2 The broadening of the criteria is partly to enable maximum flexibility when assessing 
potential investment opportunities that secure a wide range of return measures other than 
financial (economic measures), and also as a recognition that the market opportunities for 
investing primarily to secure a financial return (rather than other non-financial returns) 
have significantly diminished since 2017.

4.3 The PIP is focussed on investment opportunities wholly within the district of South 
Kesteven and opportunities outside the district are discouraged.  This is in recognition that 
the non-financial returns (such as job retention, supporting business growth) will directly 
and positively contribute towards the district rather than a neighbouring geographical area.

5 Reasons for the Recommendations(s)
5.1 It is necessary to set out a comprehensive framework that enables the Council’s economic 

growth ambitions to be realised.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 The proposals will be considered by Council on 1 March 2019.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 The appendices set out the governance in respect of the acquisition, development, 

financing and affordability of capital expenditure.  The capital framework is approved by 
Council as part of the budget framework.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles Assistant Director, Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 

requires all local authorities to produce a capital strategy.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Ben Bix, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 N/a

43



10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 Risk are incorporated into the governance of the strategies and are referenced in 

Appendix A & B accordingly

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 N/a

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 N/a

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix A – Capital Strategy

14.2 Appendix B – Property Investment Policy

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

7 February 2019

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 7 February 2019

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  1 March 2019

44



APPENDIX A

CAPITAL STRATEGY 2019/20 – 2021/22
1. Strategic Vision and Ambitions
2. Purpose
3. Scope
4. Links to Other Key Strategies
5. Capital Expenditure

Long Term Capital Expenditure Plans
6. The Capital Budget Setting Process
7. Prioritisation of Capital Proposals Put Forward
8. Applying the Tests of Prudence, Affordability and Sustainability
9. Prioritisation of Projects – Annual Cycle

Member Approval Process
10. Developing the Capital Programme 

Detailed Project Bids
Preparing the Draft Capital Programme
Multi-Year Schemes

11. Framework for the Management and Delivery of the Capital Programme
12. Revenue Implications
13. Capital Financing

External Funding
Capital Receipts
Revenue Funding, Including Reserves
Prudential Borrowing
HRA Capital Receipts Reserve and Major Repairs Reserve
Pump Priming and Invest to Save Schemes
Leasing

14. Utilising Capital Funding
15. Overview of Asset Management Planning
16. Commercial Investments
17. Importance of Effective Treasury Management
18. Procurement and Value for Money
19. Partnerships and Relationships with other Organisations
20. Due Diligence and Risk Management 

45



APPENDIX A

1 Strategic Vision and Ambitions

1.1 South Kesteven District Council is making significant progress in its commitment to 

helping grow the local economy.

1.2 The Council has set out ambitious plans to deliver a programme of strategic 

projects that will grow its economy by a further £1.2 billion. These projects range 

from the creation of office space, to the building of new leisure centres and a 

cinema complex, to supporting arts, culture and heritage as part of a 

comprehensive place-making initiative delivered through investSK.

1.3 By focusing on the economy, SKDC is creating opportunities for new and existing 

businesses and residents, as well as options for the Council to facilitate, catalyse 

and directly-deliver growth-related projects. 

1.4 With the fastest-growing economy in the county area of Lincolnshire, the council is 

now acting more commercially in the interests of the district, with the purchase of 

strategic land and properties to the launch of private companies wholly owned by 

SKDC including our growth and regeneration arm InvestSK and Gravitas Housing 

which provides small scale housing developments and supports local building 

expertise.  The most recent additions to the family of SKDC companies are 

DeliverSK and EnvironmentSK.

1.5 DeliverSK is a 50-50 co-investment partnership between the Council and a private 

company. DeliverSK will provide commercial, retail and employment space to meet 

business demands and create new markets. 

1.6 EnvironmentSK will bring grounds maintenance services across the district back in-

house.

1.7 The companies will help to generate revenue that can be put back into our 

communities and the priorities they care about, taking place against a backdrop of a 

reduction in funding from central government..

1.8 The past year has also been about transformation. About getting the Council’s 

house in order by ensuring the authority has the right people with the right skills in 

the right roles to help make South Kesteven a place where people want to live, work 

and invest.

1.9 This is to ensure that not only are our 100 plus services the best they can be for our 

residents, but that SKDC is among the most innovative councils when it comes to 

determining how services are provided in the future.

46



APPENDIX A

1.10 The Capital Strategy sets out the governing framework for how the Council will 

develop and deliver its capital programme in the context of the aforementioned 

growth plans and its new companies.  

47



APPENDIX A

2 Purpose

2.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential 
Code requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that 
capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with the Council’s 
corporate ambitions and service objectives and take account of stewardship, risk, 
value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. In addition, in February 
2018, the Government (MHCLG) issued new statutory guidance on local 
government investments. This guidance includes the requirement to include a 
number of additional disclosures for non-financial investments in the Capital 
Strategy to be approved by Council. The Government has also issued statutory 
guidance on the treatment of the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) that took 
effect from April 2018 and which is covered more fully in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy.

2.2 The Capital Strategy sets out the long term context and forms part of the authority’s 
integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning. It provides a high level 
overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management 
decisions contribute to the provision of high quality services and the achievement of 
priority outcomes. It also provides a framework in which due consideration is given 
to risk and reward and the implications for future financial sustainability together 
with an overview of the governance processes for the approval and monitoring of 
capital expenditure.

2.3 The Capital Strategy will be reviewed and updated annually to ensure it maintains 
strong links to the Council’s developing priorities and to other key strategies which 
are set out below.

3 Scope

3.1 This Capital Strategy includes all capital expenditure and capital investment 
decisions, not only as an individual local authority but also those entered into under 
group arrangements, i.e. including companies set up by the Council, including 
Gravitas, InvestSK and DeliverSK. 

4 Links to Other Key Strategies, Policies and Procedures

4.1 The Capital Strategy is inextricably linked to the following:

 Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2025 – this sets out the Council’s vision for the future 
of the Council which exists to serve the best interests of its residents.

 Medium Term Financial Plan – this sets out the Council’s overall budgetary 
framework and interlinks with a number of key strategies that support the delivery 
of the Council’s ambitions. It looks at the Council’s plans over a 3-5 year period to 
finance its priorities and meet its spending commitments, having regard to the 
likely availability of revenue and capital resources.

 Treasury Management Strategy – this relates to the effective management of the 
Council’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.

48



APPENDIX A

 Asset Management Strategy– this is designed to achieve the most efficient and 
effective management of assets. There are strong linkages to the Capital Strategy 
and Capital Programme particularly relating to the Council’s building infrastructure 
and maintenance of the Council’s Housing Stock.

 Property Investment Policy sets out a framework for investing in property assets, 
via direct ownership, joint ventures and to make investments for the benefit, 
improvement or development of the area, through a balanced investment of 
acquisition, retention and management of good quality investments.

 30 Year Housing Business Plan – this is a long term plan for managing the 
authorities housing assets and financing ongoing capital investments.  

 Economic Development Strategy – this addresses the key economic challenges 
facing the Council and sets a course to improve and develop South Kesteven as 
an economically prosperous place that attracts and supports business and 
enables local enterprise to flourish.  

 Council Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.

5 Capital Expenditure

5.1 Capital expenditure is incurred on the acquisition or creation of new assets, or 
expenditure which enhances or adds to the life or value of an existing fixed asset 
that is needed to provide services. Fixed assets are tangible or intangible assets 
that yield benefits to the Council for a period of more than one year, e.g. land, 
buildings, vehicles, equipment, information technology and commercial 
investment. This is in contrast to revenue expenditure which is spending on the 
day to day running costs of services such as employee costs and supplies and 
services. 

5.2 The summary of the latest Capital Programme set out in the table below is the 
authority’s plan of capital works for the next 3 years, including details on the 
funding of these schemes. In keeping with the Council’s plans to grow the local 
economy, there will also be major investment projects and requirements that have 
not yet been planned and these will need to be properly considered in the medium 
to long term having regard to sustainability and affordability.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22Capital 
Expenditure: Forecast

£m
Estimated

£m
Estimated

£m
Estimated

£m

General Fund 19.455 14.237 1.723 1.881
HRA 7.779 16.489 15.113 13.796
Total 27.234 30.726 16.836 15.677
Capital Financing:
Borrowing 7.999 10.000 2.775
Capital Reserves 13.677 17.239 15.113 11.021

Capital Receipts 0.788 0.500 0.400 0.100
Capital Grants 0.702 0.862 0.797 0.797
Direct Revenue 
Financing

4.068 2.125 0.526 0.984

Total 27.234 30.726 16.836 15.677

49

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3465&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=892&p=0


APPENDIX A

5.3 In recent years, the financing of the General Fund capital programme has been 
funded from reserves, and monies received in respect of the New Homes Bonus. 
Going forward capital financing will include borrowing which will incur revenue costs 
relating to the payment of interest and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), the 
latter being a provision or an amount set aside for the repayment of the debt.

Long Term Capital Expenditure Plans

5.4 To finance its capital programme, the Council faces a number of challenges, 
principal amongst which are the ability to maintain an adequate level of capital 
receipts and the risk that the monies received from the New Homes Bonus will 
reduce or cease altogether following the national spending review. 

5.5 Therefore, the Council needs robust plans to meet its funding needs for capital 
expenditure in the longer term in order to maintain a financially sustainable capital 
programme. The strategic aim is to provide a capital strategy that enables the 
Council to acquire, invest and ultimately dispose of assets in order to create a 
funding pipeline through the generation of capital receipts to fund future capital 
projects.  If capital were to be funded primarily from borrowing, it would increase 
revenue costs as a result of the interest charge and MRP. In the absence of other 
sources of capital, this essentially means that capital costs would be funded from 
revenue resources over time. To address this, the Council will need to pursue an 
active strategy of seeking, for example:

 Income from the sale of assets that are not required or are under-utilised
 Income generating investments
 Commercial partnerships where the costs, risks and rewards are shared

6 The Capital Budget Setting Process

6.1 Generally, capital resources are allocated in accordance with the Council’s 
corporate objectives, service priorities, customer needs and where appropriate, the 
discharge of legislative/mandatory requirements, including health and safety. These 
are set out in more detail in the relevant operational strategies and plans, e.g. Asset 
Management Plan, Investment Strategy, etc.

7 Prioritisation of Capital Scheme Proposals

7.1 For each annual budget setting cycle, the process starts with the Leader and 
Cabinet crystallising their vision, priorities and plans for the future in terms of 
strategic investment and by reference to the criteria set out in the previous 
paragraph. Currently, growing the economy is the number one priority and a 
number of related and other proposals are likely to come forward including:

 Property acquisition and investment and new initiatives to stimulate growth in the 
local economy – through DeliverSK, etc

 Maintenance of the essential infrastructure of the organisation, including the 
replacement of vehicles and equipment and IT hardware and software 
enhancements;

50



APPENDIX A

 Essential Health and Safety works;

 Recurring expenditure and mandatory schemes, including Disabled Facilities 
Grants and scheme costs contractually committed;

 Ring fenced schemes funded by s106 monies

 Match funded investment for regeneration projects;

 Invest to save schemes.

7.2 In addition, the need for capital investment may be identified by a Business or 
Service Area through one or more of the following processes. 

 Annual business planning process – to identify improvements and enhancements 
(ensuring that their objectives meet the overall aims and objectives of the 
Council); these must identify any capital investment needed to meet future 
business needs;

 The Asset Management Plan and supporting stock condition surveys to highlight 
deficiencies in the condition, suitability and sufficiency of the Council’s existing 
building stock and identify future areas of need;

 The Investment & Regeneration Strategy may identify suitable properties for 
acquisition or land for economic development;

 The Performance Management System may identify problem areas where capital 
investment is needed in order to improve service delivery and meet key 
performance targets;

 Reviews and external Inspections may also identify areas that need capital 
investment;

 The need to respond to Government initiatives and new laws and regulations;

 Delivery of the Transformation Programme – there is an ongoing need to deliver 
savings and identify additional sources of revenue income to contribute to the 
funding of services and this may involve capital expenditure. 

8 Applying the Tests of Prudence, Affordability and Sustainability

8.1 Once the list of key capital priorities has been identified by Members and officers, 
consideration is given to:

Prudence:

 Recognition of the capacity in the organisation and the knowledge and skills 
available to deliver such a programme;

 The approach to commercial activities including ensuring effective due diligence, 
expert advice and scrutiny, defining the risk appetite and considerations of 
proportionality in respect of overall resources;

 The approach to treasury management and the management of risk as set out in 
the Treasury Management Strategy.

51



APPENDIX A

Affordability:

 Revenue impact of the proposals on the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
The business case will require the revenue implications to be identified and 
profiled;

 The level of reserves to support the financing of the capital programme;

 The borrowing position of the Council, projections of external debt and the use of 
internal borrowing to support capital expenditure;

 External debt - the authorised limit and operational boundary for the following 
year and subsequent years;

 Whether schemes are profiled to the appropriate financial year.

Sustainability:

 A long-term view of capital expenditure plans, where long term is defined by the 
aspirations in the Corporate Strategy, MTFP and other related strategies and 
plans

 The risks faced with reference to the life of the project/assets;

 Provision for the repayment of debt over the life of the underlying debt as set out 
in the Minimum Revenue Provision policy;

 An overview of asset management planning including ongoing maintenance 
requirements and planned disposals.

8.2 Possible sources of funding can then be considered for each of the proposed 
capital schemes. Each project will be considered in terms of revenue funding to 
cover the operational running costs of the asset and any borrowing repayment 
costs, and also how the asset will be funded in terms of capital expenditure.

9 Prioritisation of Projects – Annual Cycle

9.1 A formalised corporate system for prioritising capital projects has been adopted by 
the Council. This has resulted in:

 Identifying essential capital investment for the next 3-5 years and with increasing 
focus on the medium to long term position as reflected in the Corporate Strategy;

 Utilising feasibility studies where needed;

 Adopting an “informal” Gateway Review approach for larger strategic schemes to 
enter the programme at the required time; 

 The ability to enter items into the capital programme during the budget setting 
cycle commensurate with any change in policy or approach;    

 Being mindful of the current level of the programme in relation to the capacity to 
deliver, the relevant financing of schemes and any other running costs.

9.2 This will result in a list of capital project proposals to be considered as part of that 
year’s budget approval process and a ‘waiting list’ of other capital project proposals 

52



APPENDIX A

that may be put forward for consideration later in the year or as part of the following 
year’s budget approval process.

Outline Member Approval Process

9.3 The first draft of the capital programme is reported to Cabinet Members in late 
autumn as part of the annual budget setting process, who then make 
recommendations on the overall capital programme, having regard to the method of 
financing, particularly where external funding and borrowing is required.

9.4 The Cabinet receive the final draft of the Capital Programme in January each year 
which is then subject to scrutiny via the relevant scrutiny committee. Then the 
Cabinet receive the updated Capital Programme in February each year and in turn 
make their recommendations to full Council in March.

9.5 Members approve the overall borrowing levels at the budget meeting in 
January/February each year when considering the latest Treasury Management 
Strategy Report.    

9.6 Once the Council has approved the capital programme, then expenditure can be 
committed subject to the normal contract procedure rules and the terms and 
conditions of funding.

9.7 Whether capital projects are funded from grant, contributions, capital allocations or 
borrowing, the revenue costs must be able to be met from existing revenue budgets 
or identified (and underwritten) by savings or demonstrable income streams.

10 Developing the Capital Programme 

10.1 There are two main categories of capital schemes that make up the Capital 
programme:

 ‘Ongoing’ allocations for annual spend such as Disabled Facilities Grants, 
Housing and General Fund property maintenance, vehicles, Capital Grants, etc.

 ‘One-off’ projects to deliver a particular scheme such as new/upgrade of ICT 
system, building or refurbishing assets, one off grant funding, etc.

Detailed Project Bids

10.2 As part of the business planning process, Heads of Service and Assistant Directors 
will identify a list of potential capital ‘bids’ for consideration and inclusion into the 
capital programme.  All capital bids should be submitted using the Council’s Project 
Management methodology which covers the following key areas:

 Project Details – basic summary of the project including location
 Identification of priority Area – links to priority themes
 Evidence of need – what are the objectives for delivering the project including links 

to consultation?

53



APPENDIX A

 Links to partnership – is there any third party support to deliver the project including 
financing?

 Identification of outputs and outcomes – to be achieved through delivery of the 
project?

 Affordability – what are the capital costs and associated revenue implications over 
the life of the scheme? 

 Level of risk – including the potential impact on overall financial sustainability for the 
Council

 Timescale – timescales for delivery including any planning, consultation, 
procurement, etc.

Preparing the Draft Capital Programme 

10.3 All capital bids are assessed by reference to the factors outlined above.

10.4 Schemes attracting partial or full external funding, such as grants, will be assessed 
in the same way as those schemes which require 100% funding from the Council 
and will only be included within the capital programme if they meet the Council’s 
needs, objectives and priorities.  

10.5 Cabinet will receive a draft capital programme together with a list of new bids for the 
following three years together with specific funding options and details of the capital 
financing proposals.  Cabinet will review the proposed programme and ensure the 
programme aligns and supports the delivery of the Council’s priorities and 
recommend the programme to Council to be incorporated into the budget 
framework proposals. 

10.6 Once detailed capital programmes have been approved by members, the financial 
spend is monitored on a monthly basis.  

10.7 To ensure each project is delivered, robust project management arrangements are 
undertaken with clearly defined areas of responsibility for each task set out.

Multi-Year Schemes

10.8 Payments for capital schemes often occur over many years, depending on the size 
and complexity of the project. Therefore, estimated payment patterns are calculated 
for each project so that the expected capital expenditure per year is known. 

10.9 The length of the planning period should be defined by the MTFP and the risks 
faced with reference to the life of the project/assets. For example some schemes 
may span two or more financial years whereas others may be over much longer 
timeframes (e.g. the 30 year business plan for the HRA decent homes programme). 

10.10The approval of a rolling multi-year capital programme assists the Council in a 
number of ways. It assists business managers, allowing them to develop longer 
term capital plans for service delivery. It also allows greater flexibility in planning 
workloads and more certainty for preparation work for future schemes. It will also 
allow greater integration of the revenue budget and capital programme. It also 

54



APPENDIX A

matches the time requirement for scheme planning and implementation since 
capital schemes have a considerable initial development phase.

11 Framework for the Management & Delivery of the Capital Programme

11.1 Following the approval of the capital programme it is important that projects are 
delivered on time and within budget and clear measurable outcomes are achieved. 
Therefore, delivery of the capital programme is closely monitored on a monthly 
basis through detailed forecasting reviews. On a quarterly basis a financial 
monitoring report is presented to members in order ensure member overview and 
scrutiny of the capital programme. 

11.2 A standard approach to project management is used across the Council which 
facilitates the management and monitoring of individual projects against initial plans 
and milestones. This process includes risk registers and project baselines, etc. A 
project manager is assigned to each project to oversee the planning, delivery, 
management and governance arrangements.

11.3 Close monitoring and reporting of slippage is undertaken to provide timely reporting 
which then allows for greater flexibility with capital spend and may allow other 
opportunities to be added to the programme.

11.4 With major procurements, including building works, etc. the Contract Procedure 
Rules set out the approach to be taken which is underpinned by the Council’s 
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations. 

11.5 Monitoring arrangements for delivering the Capital Programme are set out in the 
Financial Regulations and Guidance Notes and the Contract Procedure Notes.

12 Revenue Implications

12.1 Clearly, the revenue implications of capital investment must always be considered 
in investment decisions and the prioritisation of projects. These include revenue 
costs and potential savings implications as follows:

Costs:

 Interest and MRP
 Potential loss of investment income from the use of reserves and capital receipts
 Operating costs associated with any asset

Savings & Benefits:

 The positive impact of investment and economic growth on the Council’s tax base 
and business rates income

 Capital projects that generate income, revenue savings and/or efficiencies

55



APPENDIX A

13 Capital Financing

13.1 This section sets out the policies of the Council in relation to funding capital 
expenditure and investment.

External Funding, Including Government Grants

13.2 Business areas must seek to maximise external funding wherever possible to 
support capital schemes. This can be in the form of grants and contributions from 
outside bodies including central government, e.g. Disabled Facilities Grants. Other 
external funding options could be through non-specific S106 monies, developer 
contributions or third party support. However, business areas must be prepared to 
underwrite any cost overruns on externally funded schemes, i.e. where the costs 
exceed the available funding. In respect of match funding bids then the relevant 
manager must fully identify the necessary match funding resources from within 
existing service budgets.  

Capital Receipts

13.3 A capital receipt is an important funding source for the capital programme. This 
relates to money which is received from the sale of an asset. The monies received 
cannot be spent on revenue items unless the guidelines for flexible use can be 
applied. 

13.4 Identification of the disposal of assets is undertaken in accordance with the Asset 
Management Plan disposal strategy. The Council has a Useable Capital Receipts 
Reserve which is earmarked to fund future capital programme items and the current 
policy is to utilise all capital receipts to financially support the capital programme, 
enabling investment to be directed towards those schemes or projects with the 
highest corporate priority. Capital receipts may be also used to repay outstanding 
debt on assets financed from loans, as permitted by the regulations.

13.5 One of the elements to generate capital receipts relate to ‘Right to Buy’ housing 
sales.  Under the current rules these receipts are to be used within a 3 year period 
to fund up to 30% of the construction of purchase of new housing stock.

13.6 The Management Team will review annually the Council’s key property holdings 
against the aims and objectives of the Asset Management Plan.  

Revenue Funding, Including Reserves

13.7 Where appropriate, revenue funding may be used to fund capital expenditure. 
Contributions are made either from revenue or other reserve transfers and the level 
to which this is maintained or decisions regarding its usage are made both during 
the year end accounts closure process and during budget setting. In addition, 
monies that are received from New Homes Bonus funding has been utilised to 
funding some specific capital projects such as financing the new cinema complex..

56



APPENDIX A

Prudential Borrowing

13.8 Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded from 
Prudential Borrowing. Services must be able to afford the borrowing repayment and 
interest charges on the loan from revenue budgets. Factoring in the cost of MRP 
and interest charges is key to the annual budget process and the development of 
the MTFP.  

13.9 Local Authorities can set their own borrowing levels based on their capital need and 
their ability to pay for the borrowing. The levels will be set using the indicators and 
factors set out in the Prudential Code. The borrowing costs are not supported by the 
Government so services need to ensure they can fund the repayment costs. This 
borrowing may also be referred to as Prudential Borrowing. 

13.10The impact of borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management Strategy 
alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance.

HRA – Capital Receipts Reserve & Major Repairs Reserve

13.11These reserves can be used to fund capital expenditure. Contributions are made 
from the Housing Revenue Account or through the sale of assets and these are 
driven by the HRA Business Plan.

Pump Priming and Invest to Save Schemes

13.12Occasionally projects arise for which services require assistance with meeting the 
set up costs of projects which may bring long term service delivery improvements 
and/or cost savings. The initial set up costs may be of a revenue or capital nature. 
Assistance for these schemes must be considered on an individual basis by the 
Management Team and then Cabinet with consideration to the Council’s overall 
priorities and resources.

13.13For ‘invest to save’ schemes, assistance may be given for initial set up costs, but it 
is expected that in the longer term these schemes will produce savings and/or 
additional income that will as a minimum fund any additional operational or 
borrowing costs. If the additional savings/income do not cover the additional costs 
incurred, then the service will be required to fund the gap from their existing 
budgets (i.e. they will underwrite the savings/income).

Leasing

13.14The Council may enter into finance leasing agreements to fund capital expenditure 
on behalf of services. However, a full option appraisal and comparison of other 
funding sources must be made and it must be evidenced that leasing provides the 
best value for money method of funding the scheme.

13.15Under the Prudential Code finance leasing agreements are counted against the 
overall borrowing levels when looking at the prudence of the authority’s borrowing.

57



APPENDIX A

14 Utilising Capital Funding 

14.1 With reference to above, it is prudent to allocate funding streams in the order 
outlined below although this may be amended in order to deliver priority outcomes. 
Clearly, due to the higher costs associated with external borrowing, this sits low on 
the priority list and should be used as a last resort, particularly where the full 
ongoing costs of interest and MRP are not covered by income or cashable savings 
generated by the asset purchased or the investment made. 

1. Time limited funding
2. Ring fenced funding
3. Other external funding
4. Capital receipts and reserves
5. Direct revenue funding
6. Invest to Save
7. Borrowing
8. Leasing

15 Overview of Asset Management Planning

15.1 The Asset Management Plan (AMP) states how the Council’s current properties and 
land support the delivery of its strategic priorities. This influences the way the 
Council manages property and assets at a strategic level as well as on a day to day 
basis. The AMP also covers the arrangements in place governing the acquisition 
and disposal of assets. In addition, the Property Investment Strategy sets out how 
the Council will acquire or refurbish assets that meet its corporate objectives, 
including those set out in the MTFS as well as delivering economic benefits.

16 Commercial Investments

16.1 These are investments made outside the normal treasury management activity and 
are taken for mainly financial reasons. These may include:

 investments arising as part of business structures, such as shares and loans in 
subsidiaries or other outsourcing structures such as IT providers or building 
services providers. For the avoidance of doubt, this includes loans made by the 
Council to wholly owned companies, to a joint venture and to a third party.

 investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for the 
Council, e.g. establishing investment property portfolios.

16.2The Council will set out the level of risk it is prepared to accept or be exposed to (risk 
appetite). Where there is a fundamental change in policy, for example where the 
Council wishes to pursue a more progressive approach, then provided the business 
case and risk assessment for the investment/project put the level of risks within 
acceptable and manageable margins, it can proceed.

16.3 The statutory guidance contained in the Local Government Act 2013 and the 
guidance issued in February 2018 sets out the following disclosures and reporting 
requirements that are being developed. 

58



APPENDIX A

 Limits for non-treasury investments
 Agreement on the types of loan to be made and self-assessed limit that cannot be 

exceeded for such loans
 Agreement of the types of property investments to be made and self-assessed 

limit for total exposure to these investments
 Definition of the types of contribution non-financial investments can deliver for the 

Council
 Processes and procedures for dealing with risk assessment, including security, 

debt recovery, liquidity and performance monitoring
 How the right balance is achieved between security, liquidity and yield
 Quantitative indicators to help measure total risk exposure in terms of 

proportionality
 Capacity, skills and culture, including policy on the use of external service 

providers

17 The Importance of Effective Treasury Management in Financing Capital 
Expenditure

17.1 Treasury management is defined by CIPFA as: “the management of the Council’s 
borrowing, investments and cash flows”. A vital part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure that cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being 
available when it is needed, including the funding of the Council’s capital plans. 
These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations.  

17.2 The Council will ensure that its capital investment plans and borrowing are prudent, 
affordable and sustainable. In doing so, it will take into account its arrangements for 
the repayment of debt and the consideration of risk and the impact on the Council’s 
overall fiscal sustainability. While prudential indicators are required to be set over a 
rolling three year period, these will, in future, be established in line with a capital 
strategy that is sustainable over the longer term.

17.3 The CIPFA Treasury Management Code recognises that organisations may make 
investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management activity. 
These may include commercial investments as described above.

17.4 The Council’s approach to Treasury Management is set out in detail in its Treasury 
Management Strategy which is reported to Council annually in March. This also 
features the Council’s arrangements for dealing with the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP)

18   Procurement and Value for Money

18.1 Procurement is the purchase of goods and services, and the Council’s approach is 
aligned to the Lincolnshire Sustainable Procurement Strategy that has been 
developed to assist with the definition of quality standards and securing provision of 
the best possible services for local people for a given price. 

59



APPENDIX A

18.2 The Council uses the services of Lincolnshire Procurement for capital procurement 
and to help deliver efficiency savings and value for money. This ensures full 
compliance with EU procurement directives and the Council has adopted 
Lincolnshire’s Contract Procedure Rules.

18.3 The main aim is to hold ‘value for money’ as a key goal in all procurement activity to 
optimise the combination of cost and quality. Delivering the Council’s Capital 
Investment Programme should provide high quality, value for money public 
services. The Council recognises that best value is based on whole life costs and 
therefore the on-going revenue implications of capital spend are identified. These 
revenue costs are used to inform the revenue budget planning process and are 
considered alongside other priorities in the revenue budget when the overall budget 
is set. Costs to be assessed include the opportunity cost of using the resources, the 
interest earnings foregone by utilising reserves and capital receipts, and any 
additional revenue costs arising from the investment.

18.4 Effective performance management is central to all capital investment activities as a 
way of ensuring that value for money is being achieved.

19 Partnerships and Relationships with other Organisations

19.1 SKDC is an outward-looking Council that is keen to engage and partner with other 
public bodies and especially with external organisations to unlock private 
investment and deliver economic growth for the area. Also, to learn from partnering 
and networking in order to develop new ideas and innovation and deliver results on 
a shared risk and reward basis. 

20 Due Diligence and Risk Management

20.1 Risk management, due diligence and achieving value for money are the foundation 
for all aspects of capital investment and treasury management underpinned by 
effective management and control.

Due Diligence

20.2 For all capital investments, the appropriate level of due diligence will be undertaken 
with the extent and depth reflecting the level of additional risk being considered. 
Due diligence process and procedures will include:

 effective scrutiny of proposed investments by the Management Team and 
Cabinet;

 identification of the risk to both the capital sums invested and the returns;

 understanding the extent and nature of any external underwriting of those risks;

 the potential impact on the financial sustainability of the Council if those risks 
come to fruition;

 identification of the assets being held for security against debt and any prior 
charges on those assets; 

 where necessary, independent and expert advice will be sought.

60



APPENDIX A

Risk Management

20.3 To manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital project or capital 
investment need to be systematically identified, analysed, influenced and 
monitored.

20.4 It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and for the capital 
programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital assets held primarily for 
financial returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as 
investments and so the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns 
consistent with the level of risk applies.

20.5 An assessment of risk should therefore be built into every capital project and major 
risks recorded in a Risk Register. It is important that risk assessment forms a key 
element of the both the capital expenditure and capital financing process.

20.6 The following have been defined as the main risks and these are explained more 
fully in the Treasury Management Strategy.

Credit Risk
20.7 The risk that the organisation with which the Council has invested capital monies 

has diminished creditworthiness or becomes insolvent and cannot meet its 
contractual obligations. 

Liquidity Risk
20.8 The risk that cash will not be available when needed.

Interest Rate, Exchange Rate & Inflation Risks
20.9 The risk that rates will move in a way that has an adverse effect on the value of 

capital expenditure or the expected financial returns from a project. 

Legal and Regulatory Risk
20.10The risk that changes in laws or regulation make a capital project more expensive 

or time consuming to complete, make it no longer cost effective or make it illegal or 
not advisable to complete. 

Fraud, Error and Corruption
20.11The risk that financial losses will occur due to errors or fraudulent or corrupt 

activities. 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



    APPENDIX B

PROPERTY INVESTMENT POLICY
February 2019

1. Background
As an integral part of the Council’s approach to commercialisation, this policy sets out 
a framework in order to make investments in property and strategic assets.  Under this 
policy the Council may (subject to a business case):

 Purchase tenanted property and carry out landlord functions;
 Build or develop property to be let to interested parties;
 Acquire land to be developed or make available for development;
 Develop existing land or property;
 Undertake any other investments for which it has legal powers

Investments made in share capital, fixed term deposit, government bonds and property 
funds are classified as Treasury Investments and are referenced in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy and therefore not covered as part of this policy. 

2. Objectives
Property Investments may be made to meet one of the following objectives:

i. Commercial investment - to acquire income-producing property in order to 
enhance Council revenue streams or to make investments in potential 
development sites and development schemes within the district.

This strategy provides a supporting framework for the acquisition of income 
generating assets which will yield future sustainable net revenue streams over 
the medium term for the Council after covering any borrowing costs.  To enable 
each investment proposal to be considered and evaluated, a business case 
detailing the capital and revenue implications, the financial return from the 
investment and the associated risk levels will be prepared and evaluated. 

ii. Economic Development/Regeneration – which deliver significant regeneration 
benefits to the area and wider district. 

Where the objective for the capital to be invested is to support and deliver 
economic regeneration and growth or to provide new and enhanced offer to the 
residents then any borrowing costs that are incurred will need to be assessed 
for affordability and if progressed, funded from a combination of revenue 
contribution, Council tax receipts and the use of the £10m capital budget 
identified.  

It may fund its share of the capital to be invested via Deliver SK (a joint venture 
with a Private Investor).

It may act as the finance provider, taking a charge over assets owned by a third 
party.

63



    APPENDIX B

3. Commercial Investment

CIPFA guidance recommends that the security and liquidity of investments should take 
priority over yield.  This is reflected in the policy objectives below and in the Council’s 
approach:

 To ensure there is a diverse portfolio of properties, such diversification 
principally being across geographical location and the type of properties held.

 To acquire investments that provide long term investment in line with the 
Council’s Corporate Strategy;

 To maximise return while minimising risk through prudential management 
processes;

 To prioritise investments that yield optimal revenue streams and stable income 
to support the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 To protect capital invested
Location
The South Kesteven district, specifically Grantham, Stamford and Bourne, is the 
preferred location for acquisitions of investment properties, so that reinvestment is 
retained within the local economy and any additional capital expenditure is made in 
the local area. Therefore, all efforts will be directed to source suitable investments 
within South Kesteven.  However, it is recognised that there is a finite supply of 
property within the local area and of that supply, only a small proportion may be 
available for purchase at any time. 

Target assets
The following assets will be sought;

Type Desired Characteristics
Retail investments 1. Lot sizes of up to £5m

2. Good locations in town centres or in good 
out-of-town retail clusters/parks

3. Quality tenants on leases with a minimum of 
five years unexpired terms

Office investments  Lot sizes of up to £5m
 Modern specification, likely to be built since 

1990
 Good locations in town centre or in good 

out-of-town business parks
 Quality tenants on leases with a minimum of 

five years unexpired terms
 Multi-let properties to be considered with 

average unexpired lease terms of 3 years, 
subject to a spread of expiry dates

64



    APPENDIX B

Type Desired Characteristics
Industrial/Warehouse 
investments 

 Lot sizes of up to £5m
 Modern specification with flexible standard 

layout
 Good locations on major road routes and 

good access to motorways
 Quality tenants on leases with a minimum of 

five years unexpired terms
 Multi-let properties to be considered with 

average unexpired lease terms of 3 years, 
subject to a spread of expiry dates

Investment in health and care 
facilities, opportunities to invest 
in land that would provide a 
commercial return, investment 
in different leisure opportunities 
such as public houses, 
restaurants and health & fitness 
centres with 

Similar characteristics as above.

Mixed-use investments would 
also be potentially suitable 
additions to the portfolio. These 
may include a mixture of 
commercial and residential uses, 
or a mixture of retail and office 
use. 

Similar characteristics as set out above for 
office investments will apply.

Criteria for Appraising Potential Investments
Each investment will be subject to a business case and will be appraised in line with 
the criteria set out within this section. 
Any investments that take the total investment above the £10m set out within the 
Budget Framework will require the approval of Full Council. 
The legal basis of all investments will be verified as part of the approval process set 
out in Section 5 of this policy. 
The following tests will be applied to each investment:
Yield Test – investments must demonstrate the best use of council money; this is to 
be measured typically by generating a suitable rate of return (net income) of at least 
3% when borrowing (after taking into consideration borrowing costs) and 5% when 
using reserves.
The rate of return takes into account the gross yield and deducts relevant costs such 
as borrowing costs, to arrive at a net income. 
Whilst rate of return is the primary measure of whether an investment is viable, other 
factors that will be considered include:

65



    APPENDIX B

 Payback – the period over which the initial outlay will be repaid.  The shorter 
the payback the more attractive the investment

 Expected date of positive return – whilst an investment can have a rate of return 
over the life of the asset, it may not yield a positive return in the early years.  
This will be considered in the context of the overall asset portfolio and the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan

 Capital appreciation – investments in assets may lead to a significant increase 
in asset value thereby making an investment attractive even if the minimum 
yield target is not achieved.

Risk Test – investments must not expose the Council to an unacceptable level of risk 
and in particular the security and liquidity risks must be adequately managed. 
A rigorous assessment of all risks is required in each case of fresh investment in order 
firstly to value each property and then to check its suitability for inclusion in the 
portfolio. The risks fall into two categories, firstly property market risks in specific 
property market sub-sectors and locations and secondly asset-specific risks 

Asset specific risks can be measured and an assessment made of the likely future 
performance of the investment carried out to determine the ranges of likely future 
rental growth of the property and also the disposal price. 

The factors that will be considered when assessing asset specific risk are:
Income returns for property will depend principally on the following five main 
characteristics;

• Location of property
• Building specification quality
• Length of lease unexpired
• Financial strength of tenant(s)
• Rental levels payable relative to current open market rental values

Performance measurement
The financial performance of the investment property portfolio and of each property 
within the portfolio will be measured and reported on an annual basis. Performance 
measurement will be based on annual external revaluations of the properties. Reports 
will be presented to the Cabinet including analysis of the performance with a view to 
making recommendations concerning amendments or alterations to the adopted 
strategy to ensure that the main objectives continue to be achieved. Suitable 
benchmarking can be set up, as required, so that the performance of the property 
portfolio may be measured against a suitable peer group or against nationally reported 
indices of property investment performance. 
In the event of a failure to achieve the performance targets in the case of individual 
assets, the business plan for the property will be reviewed and amended as necessary 
to address the underperformance noted, or alternatively the asset can be disposed of.

Sourcing of investment property
Assistance will be sought from the Council’s wholly owned company, Invest SK, in 
order to identify investment opportunities aligned with the objectives of supporting the 

66



    APPENDIX B

delivery of the Council’s ambitions, make recommendations for investments and 
provide assistance with respect to due diligence on any purchases.  
Staffing resources will need to be made available consisting of officers with the 
necessary experience of operating in the property investment market in order to 
source suitable property assets for acquisition that match the criteria set under the 
adopted strategy. This can be done either by recruitment into the existing Council 
property estates management team or by employing external expertise.

4. Economic Development/Regeneration
The Council also plans to invest in assets in the district for economic regeneration 
purposes with the aim of achieving the following outcomes:  

 Job creation or retention;

 Business rate growth;

 Local economic stimulus

 Provision when the private sector is not engaging

 Preventing Local Market failure;

 Opportunities that have strategic importance within South Kesteven, such as 
those that will improve key locations or address local deprivation issues 

These assets are unlikely to provide an income stream and therefore the acquisition 
will be financed by SKDC utilising the allocated £10m capital budget.  As this will be 
supported by external borrowing, the associated interest costs and MRP will need to 
be financed by creating headroom in the revenue budget (if possible) or utilising the 
Regeneration reserve.  
The balance of this reserve going forward will be maintained at the level necessary to 
fund the borrowing costs of the acquisitions.  It will be necessary to ensure that the 
balance remains adequate to cover any planned or contingency spending, as well as 
to cover any borrowing costs. These type of assets usually require further investment 
to bring forward the expected benefits and these costs need to be taken into account 
in the Business Case.  It is expected that, over time, these investments will increase 
council tax and business rates receipts.
In respect of regeneration investments, opportunities will be pursued where there is a 
clear business case demonstrating how it will contribute to the regeneration of the 
district.  Any surplus income after operating, interest and MRP costs will be transferred 
to the Regeneration reserve to support future regeneration schemes. 
Only proposals within the South Kesteven district will be considered for regeneration 
Investment opportunities.
The strategy for regeneration Investment opportunities does not expressly exclude 
residential property, although it does envisage that any residential opportunities are 
more likely to come forward as part of enabling development or hybrid schemes, for 
wider regeneration purposes. Any housing related based schemes will need additional 
legal and financial consideration.
The Strategy does permit opportunities for co-investment with partner organisations 
of good financial and reputational standing (known as joint ventures). 

67



    APPENDIX B

Opportunities of any value will be considered for regeneration Investments, although 
consideration will always need to be given to the number of smaller investments held 
by the Council, in pursuance of this Strategy and the burden of administering each 
investment before a decision is taken. 

5. Governance and decision making

This policy is approved by Full Council as part of the Capital Strategy and Budget 
Setting.
Owing to the normal processes when a property comes to the market and is bought 
and sold, decision-making on property purchases needs to fit in to the due diligence 
processes and timetables usually followed by private sector property owners. 
A normal timetable in the purchase of commercial property would be a two to three 
week marketing period, followed by a week for submission of offers and confirmation 
by the seller of the preferred buyer and preparation of Heads of Terms, followed by a 
4-6 week period for due diligence investigations by the buyer and the buyer’s solicitor 
prior to exchange of binding unconditional contracts on the purchase. Completion will 
usually follow within a further four weeks.
It is therefore proposed that the following decision making process is followed:

 A brief outline appraisal will be prepared for consideration by the Portfolio 
Holder, prior to engaging in discussion/negotiations.  

 The Chief Executive (or an officer delegated by them) may enter discussions 
regarding prospective acquisitions without formally committing the Council to 
any agreement

 The maximum purchase/project commitment of the Council will not exceed 
£10m (or the balance remaining of the initial £10m allocation).

 Each potential development project or acquisition will be assessed by the 
Strategic Director for Growth in conjunction with Finance and Legal.

 A business case, including all costs, risk assessment and recommendation to 
be prepared by the Strategic Director for Growth and presented to the Leader, 
Deputy Leader, Chief Executive, s151 officer, relevant Cabinet member and the 
Monitoring Officer.  A non-key decision will then be formulated should the 
recommendation be made to proceed. 

6. Legal Considerations

The Council can make funds available for investments. The Council has the power to 
invest for the purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs under the 
Local Government Act 2003. 
In applying this policy, the Council is relying on the following legal powers: 

 Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives councils the power to 
acquire property by agreement for the purpose of any of its functions or for the 
benefit, improvement or development of the area. 

 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, known as the general power of 
competence, enables a local authority to do anything that an individual 
generally may do (subject to prohibitions, restrictions, and limitations in existing 
statute which are not applicable in the circumstances set out in the report). 

68



    APPENDIX B

Further, that power enables the authority to do it anywhere in the United 
Kingdom or elsewhere, for a commercial purpose or otherwise for a charge, or 
without charge, and to do it for, or otherwise than for, the benefit of the 
authority, its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

The strategy proposes new investment acquisitions within South Kesteven if the 
supply or quality of investments is identified. In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 
the Council has the power to acquire property or land investments outside the county 
boundaries. 
DCLG issued guidance under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 and 
effective for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 2018 stating that borrowing 
solely to invest in a yield bearing opportunity is borrowing in advance of need and not 
allowable. The Council’s policy is to invest in the district so is never solely about yield 
returns given the additional benefits that will accrue. 
As part of the evaluation of any potential capital investment, officers must understand 
and present the legal basis for decisions prior to approval

7. Finance Considerations  

All opportunities for investment will be subject to high levels of due diligence and must 
have a robust business case demonstrating how the proposal will be financed.

All future acquisitions will be financed through prudential borrowing but the extent that 
MRP is accounted for will be determined on a case by case basis and be a function of 
the life and condition of the asset.  The Council is required to charge a prudent 
provision for debt repayment annually and in all cases statutory guidance will be 
adhered to. 

There are no overall limits on what a council can borrow but the overall Treasury 
Management function is governed by CIPFA’s Treasury Management and Prudential 
Codes. Under the latter the Council is required to set indicators that are designed to 
support and record decisions taken on affordability and sustainability.  There is also a 
requirement to impose limits on the Council’s treasury management activities to 
ensure decisions are made in accordance with professional good practice and risks 
are appropriate (These are included in the Treasury Management Strategy Report). 
The Chief Finance Officer monitors these and reports on them at appropriate times 
whilst the Council (this function is delegated to Governance and Audit Committee) can 
revise these indicators and limits at any time during the year.  

Increasing the levels of capital investment will have a significant impact on the 
Council’s prudential indicators and these will be updated as each borrowing is being 
considered in respect of the following:  

 An increase to the Capital Programme from 2019/20 
 An increase to the Authorised and Operational Limits 
 An increase to the Capital Financing Requirement  

 

69



    APPENDIX B

Capital Prudential 
Indicators

2019/20
Revised  
£m 

2020/21
Estimate 
£m 

2021/22
Estimate  
£m 

2022/23
Estimate
£m

Forecast 
Capital Expenditure

14.237 1.723 1.881 2.055

Capital Financing
Requirement as at 31 
March   

120.82 117.096 113.377 109.664

70



Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
13th February 2019

Report of: Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet 
Member for Growth and 
Communications
[Position]

        

Statement of Community Involvement
The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to note the outcome of the public 
consultation exercise undertaken with respect to updating the Council’s SCI and make any 
recommendation to the Cabinet for consideration in determining any amendments to the SCI.

Report Author

Roger Ranson, Head of Planning Policy

 01476 406438

 r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Growth Key All Wards

Reviewed by: Jane McDaid, Assistant Director 29 January 2019

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director 1 February 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth 
and Communications 2 February 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)

1. It is recommended that the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers 
the outcome of the public consultation exercise undertaken with respect to 
updating the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement and make any 
recommendation to the Cabinet for consideration in determining any amendments 
to the Statement of Community Involvement.

71

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The requirement to prepare a Statement of community involvement (SCI) is set out in the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2014.  The SCI is the document which sets out 
how the public, organisations and other interested parties will be involved and engaged in 
the preparation of new development plan documents and in the process of determining 
planning applications.

1.2 A revised Statement of Community Involvement was approved by Cabinet for public 
consultation at its meeting held on 10th May 2018 (the consultation version of the SCI is 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report). A six-week period of consultation then took place 
during June and July 2018.  All responses made during that consultation are set out in the 
Appendix 2 to this report, together with the officer response to each comment made.

1.3 The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to note the outcome of the 
public consultation exercise undertaken with respect to updating the Council’s SCI and 
make any recommendation to the Cabinet for consideration in determining any 
amendments to the SCI.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received
2.1 The consultation process involved the following methods;

 Notification Letters - Notification letters were sent to the 1480 consultees on the Local 
Plan database, this included both statutory and general consultees. Notification letters 
were also sent out to all Parish Councils and Ward Councillors. Notification letters 
included information on how consultees could make representation on the draft 2018 
SCI.  

 Website - A new webpage was created detailing all the relevant information regarding 
the draft 2018 SCI. This included a links to the draft SCI document and representation 
form.  

 Hard Copy - A reference hard copy of the document was made available at the South 
Kesteven District Council Office within Grantham (for the duration of the consultation).

2.2 In summary, a total of 15 responses were received to the consultation and these are 
summarised in Appendix 2, together with the Officer response.  Nine of these were from 
statutory consultees, of which 4 require no direct response.  The remaining statutory 
consultee responses deal with specific issues and each have been considered when 
drafting the officer response.  The six other responses have also raised specific matters 
which have been considered in drafting the officer response.  

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 The Officer response to comments made through the consultation are also set out in 

Appendix 2.  Members are requested to consider these in making any recommendation to 
Cabinet.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 There is no preferred option at this stage as the report seeks the views of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee. 

72



5 Reasons for the Recommendations(s)
5.1 To enable Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the outcome of the public 

consultation exercise undertaken with respect to updating the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement and make any recommendation to the Cabinet for consideration 
in determining any amendments to the Statement of Community Involvement.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 It is intended to report any recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

the meeting of Cabinet on 7th March 2019 who will be requested to approve a new 
Statement of Community Involvement, taking account of the Committee’s views and 
comments made during the period of public consultation.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles Assistant Director, Resources

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 There are no direct legal and governance implications arising from this report.   The 

Council must comply with any commitment made in its adopted SCI.    The involvement of 
the public in preparing development plan documents and in considering planning 
applications must follow the approach set out in the SCI.  As the local planning authority, 
the Council can determine when to review its SCI.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Ben Bix, Head of Governance

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 An initial analysis of the Equality Impact of the revised SCI was included in the report to 

Cabinet in seeking approval for the revised SCI to be subject to public consultation.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 There are no significant risks to the Council arising from this report.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no significant community safety implications arising from this report. 

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None.

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Appendix 1 - Revised SCI approved by Cabinet for public consultation

14.2 Appendix 2 – Schedule of comments during public consultation together with relevant 
officer responses   

73



Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

1 June 2018

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 10 May 2018

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  - Cabinet 7 March 2019

74



Local Plan for South Kesteven

Statement of Community Involvement 

Consultation 2018

South Kesteven District Council

Your council working for you

75



1STAMFORD • GRANTHAM • BOURNE • THE DEEPING

76



1 Introduction

Statement of Community Involvement 

1 Introduction 3

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement 3

1.2 Legal Requirements and Duty to Co-operate 3

1.3 Why is a Review Needed 4

1.4 Links with the Consultation Strategy 4

2 Planning Policy Documents 5

2.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 5

2.2 Development Plan Documents - When Do We Consult? 5

2.3 Supplementary Planning Documents - When Do We Consult? 7

2.4 Who Do We Consult 7

2.5 How Do We Consult 8

2.6 Neighbourhood Planning 10

3 Planning Applications 11

3.1 Pre-Application Advice and Consultation 11

3.2 Notification of Planning Applications 12

3.3 Commenting on Planning Applications 13

3.4 Determination of Planning Applications 14

3.5 Planning Appeals 15

3.6 Prior Approval Notifications 15

3.7 Works to Protected Trees 16

3.8 Hedgerow Removal Applications 16

3.9 Enforcement 16

Appendices

Appendix 1: Consultation Bodies 17 

Appendix 2: Summary of Development Plan Document Preparation 19

Appendix 3: Summary of Supplementary Planning Documents
Preparation 23

Appendix 4: Publicity for Planning Applications…………………………………….24 

Glossary and List of Abbreviations………………………………………………………….27

77



1 Introduction

1.1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement

1.1.1 The purpose of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is to set out how 
the community, businesses and others with an interest in the development of the District 
can engage with the planning system.

1.1.2 The SCI outlines how organisations and individuals can be involved in the plan 
making process and the consideration of planning applications. It also sets out standards 
and arrangements as to how the Council will consult and report back to those engaged 
in the process.

1.1.3 Having clear arrangements for carrying out consultation will help to establish a 
two way process between the community and the Council. It will provide the community 
with opportunities to help shape their local areas and create a transparent, fair and open 
planning process.

1.1.4 The SCI contains:

Background information to provide context for the SCI
Information on when, who and how we will consult when drafting planning documents 
Information on when, who and how we will consult on planning, listed building and 
other types of application 

1.1.5 The SCI sets out the techniques available and likely to be used, as it is 
important to retain a degree of flexibility so that methods can be appropriately tailored 
to the planning document in question, to allow for changes in the regulations or best 
practice guidance, and to reflect that new methods of communication and engagement 
may become available over the life of the document.

1.2 Legal Requirements and Duty to Co-operate

1.2.1 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) including South Kesteven District Council are 
required to produce a SCI under section 18 (Part 2) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

1.2.2 The minimum requirements for consultation on planning policy documents and 
planning applications are set out in The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations (the Local Planning Regulations) (1) in the case of planning policy 
documents and the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
Order (DMPO) (2) for planning applications.

1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)
2 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015

78

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made


1 Introduction

Duty to Co-operate

1.2.3 In addition to the legal requirements identified above, Section 110 of the Localism 
Act 2011 sets out a 'Duty to Co-operate’. It is a requirement that LPAs engage with 
neighbouring authorities and other statutory bodies to consider joint working arrangements 
on strategic planning matters. The Council is committed to meeting this duty and intends 
to work closely with neighbouring authorities and other partner organisations and 
stakeholders. See Appendix 1 for a list of the Duty to Co-operate bodies.

1.3 Why is a Review Needed

1.3.1 The Council its first SCI in April 2006 and a revised SCI was adopted in 2014.  
This revision is the third version of the SCI. This revision is needed due publication of 
revised legislation since the adoption of the last SCI.

3 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=5232

79

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=5232


2 Planning Policy Documents

2.1 South Kesteven Local Plan

2.1.1 The Local Plan is a framework for the location and design of development (such 
as homes, shops, offices) and for protecting the natural and built environment. It is a 
“spatial” plan, because it deals with the location and layout of developments and activities 
and how these affect people and their environment.

2.1.2 The Local Plan for South Kesteven currently comprises the following  
Development Plan Documents (DPDs):

 Core Strategy (2010)
 Site Allocation and Policies DPD (2014)
 The Local Plan (1995 – Saved Policies, Grantham Only)

2.1.3 The Council is in the process of producing a new Local Plan which will replace 
the above documents.  The timetable for producing the new Local Plan can be found in 
the current Local Development Scheme on the website. The Local Plan will be a single 
document, although it can consist of a number of separate Development Plan 
Documents (DPDs).

2.1.4 The new Local Plan will be subject to examination by an Inspector appointed 
by the Secretary of State. In addition LPAs may also, where these can be clearly 
justified, prepare Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to provide further 
guidance on policies. SPDs are not subject to examination.

2.2 Development Plan Documents - When Do We Consult?

2.2.1 The key stages for the preparation of DPDs are set out in the Local Planning 
Regulations. The following section provides a summary of the main stages a DPD has to 
go through. More detail on each of these stages in terms of how the Council will undertake 
consultation and engagement is provided in Appendix 2.

4 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1653

80

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


1 Introduction

Stage 1 – Preparation of a Local Plan (Regulation 18)

2.2.2 At this early stage, the Council must notify certain ‘specific’ (identified in the Local 
Planning Regulations) and ‘general’ (identified by the Local Authority) consultation bodies, 
as well as residents and businesses within the area, of the intention to prepare a Local 
Plan and invite representations about what the Local Plan ought to contain. The key aim 
of this consultation and engagement is to encourage public involvement at an early stage 
of the plan process.

2.2.3 During the development of the plan the Council will undertake informal and 
on-going engagement with the public and stakeholders: this may be focused on a particular 
issue or policy area or more wide-ranging, for example on a draft version of the Plan.

2.2.4 At this stage, a Sustainability Appraisal Report (SA) will also be prepared to help 
direct and influence the plan. The SA will identify and consider likely significant effects of 
the plan on social factors, the environment and the economy and potential mitigation 
measures to reduce them. Each iteration of the Local Plan will be informed by an updated 
and revised SA, which will be published alongside the Local Plan.

Stage 2 – Publication of a Local Plan (Regulation 19)

2.2.5 After careful consideration of the representations received from the previous 
stage, the Council will produce the proposed submission Local Plan. This will be the final 
version of the Local Plan that the Council intends to submit for public examination.

2.2.6 The submission Local Plan will be published for a minimum of six weeks and 
representations invited against the tests of soundness i.e. is the plan justified, effective, 
consistent with national policy and positively prepared. This is effectively the last stage 
when representations can be made to the Council about the Plan.

2.2.7 The government is currently consulting on a revised NPPF and any future DPDs 
will need to meet the tests of soundness set out in the new NPPF (once it has been 
published and in place for six months).

Stage 3 – Submission of a Local Plan (Regulation 22)

2.2.8 At this stage a copy of the Submission Local Plan and supporting information will 
be submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. The supporting 
information will include the formal representations made to the Submission Plan including 
a summary of the main issues raised.

Stage 4 – Examination of a Local Plan (Regulation 24)

2.2.9 An Inspector, appointed by the Secretary of State, will examine the document 
and consider the issues raised in the representations made. Anyone who has made a 
formal representation when the Submission Plan is published will be notified of the 
examination process. The right to appear and be heard at examination hearings is limited 
to those persons who have made representations seeking a change to the Plan. However, 
the Inspector is not precluded from inviting anyone to appear and be heard at a hearing 
session(s) where they think that person is needed to enable the soundness of the Plan to 
be determined.

81



2.2.10 The Inspector will consider whether the plan has met the appropriate legal and 
procedural requirements, including being prepared in accordance with the SCI. If the 
plan is considered legally compliant the Inspector will then consider if the document is 
‘sound’.

2.2.11 The Inspector may invite the Council to make modifications to its Local Plan in 
order to make it sound. Further consultation is normally required in relation to these 
modifications. Consultation responses at this stage are considered by the Inspector and 
not the Council.

2.2.12 The Inspector will publish a written report with a recommendation to adopt the 
Local Plan, either with or without modifications, or recommend that that the plan should 
be withdrawn.

Stage 5 – Adoption of a Local Plan document (Regulation 26)

2.2.13 The Council will consider the findings of the Inspector’s Report. If the Plan is 
recommended for adoption, then it will need to be approved by Full Council. On adoption 
the Council will notify anyone who has requested this. An adoption statement will also 
be published.

2.3 Supplementary Planning Documents - When Do We Consult?

2.3.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) expand on the policies set out within 
DPDs. They provide further planning guidance rather than policy. They are therefore 
only viewed as a material consideration within the planning decision making process. 
They are not subject to independent examination, and have fewer required stages in 
their production.

2.3.2 The key stages for the preparation of SPDs are set out in the Local Planning 
Regulations. The following section provides a summary of the main stages which a SPD 
has to go through. More detail on each of these stages is provided in Appendix 3.

Stage 1 – Public participation (Regulation 12 & 13)

2.3.3 During the preparation of the SPD the Council will undertake informal engagement 
with relevant stakeholders and the public. The SPD will then be published and formal 
representations invited. This will be for a minimum of 4 weeks.

Stage 2 – Adoption of supplementary planning documents (Regulation 14)

2.3.4 The Council will consider all the representations made and decide whether to 
adopt the Plan unchanged or with revisions to address issues raised in the representations.

2.3.5 On adoption the Council will notify any person who has requested this. An adoption 
statement will also be produced and made publicly available (on the Council’s website).

2.4 Who Do We Consult
82



1 Introduction

2.4.1 Depending on the type of planning document being prepared there are a number 
of bodies that the Council is required to consult and invite to comment.

2.4.2 The Local Planning Regulations set out the requirements for who must be consulted 
at defined key stages of plan production. These are known as the ‘specific consultation 
bodies’ and are listed in Appendix 1.

2.4.3 The Council also has discretion to identify a number of other bodies who represent 
certain interests and may be appropriate to consult at key stages. These are known as 
the ‘general consultation bodies’ and are also listed in Appendix 1.

2.4.4 It should be noted that these bodies may change as a result of amendments to 
the Local Planning Regulations and/or the Council amending/updating the list of general 
consultation bodies.

2.4.5 In addition to the ‘specific’ and ‘general’ consultation bodies, the Council is 
committed to involving a wide range of other individuals and organisations including 
members of the public, residents associations, local businesses, developers/agents, 
landowners, local community/voluntary groups and ‘hard to reach’ groups in the preparation 
of a Local Plan. Some of the identified ‘hard to reach’ groups are listed in Appendix 1.

2.4.6 The Council maintains an address database of individuals, groups and other 
interests wishing to be informed when documents are published. The database is updated 
regularly and any individual or organisation can be added to the database at any time by 
contacting the planning policy team. 

2.5 How Do We Consult

2.5.1 There is a distinction between ‘formal stages’ of plan production (where the nature 
of consultation is governed by the Local Planning Regulations) and ‘ongoing consultation’ 
with the community as part of the development and assessment of emerging options. The 
type of consultation method to be used will vary depending on the stage of production.

2.5.2 The minimum legal requirements concerning how a LPA must consult on Local 
Plans are set out in the Local Planning Regulations. These require the LPA to inform certain 
consultation bodies of each of the consultation stages and to make documents available 
at defined locations. These locations are the Council's principal offices in Grantham and 
its area offices, local libraries and on the Council's website.

2.5.3 The Local Planning Regulations allow for documents and notices to be sent by 
electronic communication. Paper copies of documents will be made available for inspection 
in the locations identified above. However, use of electronic communication is an efficient 
and quick way of circulating information. Where groups and individuals have provided an 
email address, information will normally be sent electronically.

2.5.4 The Council intends to use a range of methods to inform and consult with the 
community in preparing Local Plan documents. The following table illustrates key methods 
of consultation which may be used, their main benefits and potential consultee groups 
which they would be appropriate for.

2.5.5 Further details of how these methods will be applied to DPDs or SPDs are outlined 
in Appendices 2 and 3 respectively.

83



Method Benefit Main groups to be 
consulted (lists not 
exhaustive)

Make documents and 
supporting information 
available at Council offices 
and public libraries for 
inspection

Consultation documents and 
information are available free of 
charge in a variety of locations 
during opening hours

General public 
(including hard to reach 
groups)

Make documents, supporting 
information and electronic 
methods of responding 
available on the Council’s 
website

Information is easily accessible 
from people’s own homes and 
businesses, 24 hours a day

Comments can be submitted to 
the Council quickly, at any time 
and with no cost

Anyone with suitable 
internet access

Drop in sessions Publicises information in a user 
friendly way, in a variety of 
locations

Provides an opportunity for 
individuals to raise and discuss 
issues directly with Council staff

General public 
(including hard to reach 
groups)

Information in the Council’s 
newsletter

Information is circulated to all 
households in the District using 
an existing communication 
channel

All residents within the 
District

Press releases to local 
newspapers and/or local 
radio

Provides information to the local 
community

General public, local 
businesses and 
community/voluntary 
groups

Distribute information to 
Town and Parish 
Councils/Meetings to be 
displayed on village notice 
boards

Allows information to be 
displayed in public locations 
locally and also provides an 
opportunity for representatives 
of Town and Parish 
Councils/Meetings to raise and 
discuss issues

Town & Parish Councils 
and local 
residents/businesses

Stakeholder groups Provides an opportunity for 
selected stakeholders to raise 
and discuss issues directly

Dependent on the 
group(s) selected

84



1 Introduction

Method Benefit Main groups to be 
consulted (lists not 
exhaustive)

Dovetailing as an agenda Uses existing bodies Dependent on the
item on another meeting representing a wide range of meeting selected

community groups and
stakeholders

Letters and e-mails to Formal means of communication Specific and general
contacts on address which ensures information has consultees and anyone
database been received else with interest in

plan making

2.5.6 After each consultation stage the Council will prepare and publish on the website 
a schedule of the representations received and the Council's response to them.

2.6 Neighbourhood Planning

2.6.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a new right for local communities to draw up 
a neighbourhood plan for their local area. These plans can be very simple and concise, 
or go into more detail. Preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan should be led by a Parish 
Council or a Neighbourhood Forum in non-parished areas.

2.6.2 The level of detail and scope of the plan is for the Parish Council or Neighbourhood 
Forum to decide. They can allocate land for development and include policies to 
manage development. Any proposed plan would, however, have to be in conformity 
with the strategic objectives and policies of the South Kesteven Local Plan (Core 
Strategy).

2.6.3 As Neighbourhood Plans are not prepared by the Council, the SCI cannot prescribe 
what methods of community consultation they should undertake. However, as a minimum 
any Neighbourhood Plan must meet the requirements of The Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012.

2.6.4 Although the Council is not responsible for the drafting of the plan, it is responsible 
for publicising Neighbourhood Plans, consulting upon certain applications to designate a 
Neighbourhood Area, organising referendums and ‘making’ Neighbourhood Plans. 

2.6.5 Further information on how the Council will support neighbourhood plans is 
available on the Council’s web site(5).

5 www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=4551

85



3 Planning Applications
3.1.1 The Council determines around 2,000 planning applications each year, most of 
which are received electronically, and which range from householder extensions and 
Listed Building Consents to major new residential, retail or office developments. As part 
of the process to determine these applications, it is important that the community and 
other stakeholders have the opportunity to get involved, to help shape the areas where 
they live, work and spend their leisure time. 

3.1.2 Planning legislation sets out the minimum requirements for publicising and 
consulting the community and stakeholders on planning applications. This section sets 
out our interpretation of how we will meet those requirements through the 
development management process, through consultation at pre-application, application 
and appeal stages.

3.2 Pre-Application Advice and Consultation

3.2.1 The Council encourages pre-application discussions for certain types of 
development before making a formal application. The objective of these discussions is to 
establish whether the principle of the development is acceptable and to clarify the format, 
type and level of detail required to enable the Council to determine the application.

3.2.2 The Council has formal procedures in place for dealing with pre-application 
planning advice. This allows the Council to dedicate time with applicants to improve the 
quality of development schemes. Further guidance on pre-application advice is available 
on the Council’s web site(6).

Pre-Application Consultation by Developers

3.2.3 For major applications the Council would strongly encourage applicants, not 
already required to do so by other requirements of the Town & Country Planning Acts, 
to carry out their own pre-application consultation and seek involvement from 
stakeholders. This may take the form of a public meeting and/or exhibition in the 
locality of the proposal, a dedicated website providing information on the proposal, 
additional neighbourhood notification or press coverage but it should be effective in 
bringing draft proposals to the attention of the public, parish councils and other parties 
in the area that may be affected by the proposal.

3.2.4 Similarly, early engagement with key consultees is encouraged, allowing the 
opportunity for consultees to make comments on the proposal, and allowing key issues 
to be addressed prior to any planning application being submitted. Please note that 
some consultees have their own specific requirements relating to pre-application 
engagement.

6 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8172

86

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8172


3 Planning Applications

3.3 Notification/Publicity of Planning Applications

3.2.1 Once a planning application has been received and validated by the 
Development Management team, there is a process of publicity and consultation that is 
undertaken to ensure that stakeholders and the community have the opportunity to 
have their say on the development proposed. 

3.2.2 A significant proportion of the applications submitted to the Council are received 
electronically via the Planning Portal. The Council is committed to efficient and modern 
ways of working and communication, and places particular emphasis on the use of 
electronic means and technology. Most notification is done electronically wherever 
possible, and the Council maintains a website which hosts its formal planning register. 

3.2.3 Notification and consultation of planning applications (of all types) are required 
by planning legislation, in particular by the  Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. Some applications require special (or 
additional) publicity requirements due to their particular characteristics (eg applications 
accompanied by an Environmental Statement)

3.2.4 Appendix 4 sets out the Council’s approach to the publicity/notification to be 
given for planning applications.

3.2.5 A degree of flexibility is required in order to fit the variety of application types 
received by the Council and to allow for an appropriate level of engagement.  

Weekly list

3.2.6 Whilst not a statutory requirement, the Council produces a weekly list of 
planning applications it has received. This is made available on the Council web site (7) 
and is used as part of our consultation process.

Press notices

3.2.7 In addition to the above, for some types of application (see Appendix 4) a 
publicity notice outlining some basic details on the application will be placed in the local 
press covering the area for the application site.

Parish and Town Councils

3.2.8 All Parish and Town Councils are notified of relevant applications within their 
area. This is done electronically by email.

3.2.9 As all applications are made available to view on the Council’s website, paper 
copies of applications are not provided to Parish and Town Councils. For the larger and 
most sensitive applications (defined as those submitted with an Environmental 
Statement - ES) the Council will endeavour to provide the Parish or Town Council with a 
paper copy of the documents. For other specific cases, Parish and Town Councils can 
request paper copies of an application subject to a charge reflective of the costs 
involved. 

7 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=9229

87

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=9229


Neighbouring owner/occupier Notifications & Site Notices

3.2.10 The requirement for notification of neighbouring owners or occupiers, and for 
site notices are set out within planning legislation. In most cases, the approach to 
notification is left to the discretion of the Local Planning Authority, and either requires 
notification or a site notice to be displayed. The Council’s approach to these 
requirements is set out within Appendix 4. 

3.2.11 The extent of neighbour notification is at the discretion of the case officer 
(especially in rural areas). In practice, this normally means those properties bordering 
an application site or which the case officer assesses as most likely to be affected by a 
proposal. The Council will only notify in writing the owner and occupiers of such 
properties. In circumstances where land adjoins the site and the owner is not known a 
site notice will usually be displayed.

3.2.12 Where a site notice is displayed, it will be located on or near to the land that is 
subject to the application, and multiple site notices may be displayed. Where a site 
notice is taken down, destroyed or defaced during the determination of the application; 
it is at the Councils discretion whether a replacement is displayed based upon the 
remaining extent of the consultation period or the determination period of the 
application and the extent of other forms of notification. 

3.2.13 Formal notification is not a prerequisite to enable interested parties to 
comment on an application.

3.2.14 Interested parties are invited to inspect the application online via the Councils 
website (8), access to which is also provided at the Council Offices.  In specific 
circumstances such as where an interested party is disabled or elderly and unable to 
get to the Council Offices or access the plans online we can provide them with a free 
copy of the plans. Such requests should be made to the Case Officer in the first 
instance. Copies of plans are available to others at a charge, reflective of the costs 
involved.

8 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8170#/

88



89



3.3 Commenting on Planning Applications

3.3.1 Interested parties are invited to make comments within a specified period (the 
consultation period), usually within 21 days. We continue to accept comments until the 
application is determined, so in many cases this will be longer than 21 days. However, 
we cannot guarantee that comments received after the consultation period has closed 
and after production of the recommendation has been commenced, will be formally 
considered as part of the determination of an application. It is therefore important to 
ensure that any comments are received by the Council in a timely manner.

3.3.2 We encourage people to respond online through the Council’s website. This 
allows interested parties to provide comments at a time which suits them and also 
allows us to receive and process comments more efficiently. Alternatively, comments 
can be submitted by email or post. We will not acknowledge comments received.

3.3.3 All comments must be made in writing and contain the name and address of the 
author. We cannot consider anonymous comments. Signatures are not required and in 
the interests of Data Protection you are encouraged not to supply them. A telephone 
number is sometimes useful in case the Council or an applicant/agent needs to make 
contact to discuss your comments, however, this is not essential. Additionally, you 
should note that it is not possible for us to respond directly to comments received. 
Details on how comments are considered within the determination process are set out 
below. 

3.3.4  All comments received are public documents and will be made available to view 
by third parties (this includes providing copies of comments directly to them). Some 
information cannot be kept confidential, including the name and address of the author. 
Sensitive personal information (signatures, email addresses and phone numbers) is 
redacted. All comments received may be provided to other bodies, such as the Planning 
Inspectorate, should the application proceed to Appeal. 

3.3.5 As a result of changes in Data Protection legislation and the introduction of the 
General Data Protection Regulations in May 2018, along with other factors relating to 
the commenting on applications and improvements to methods of working and 
electronic communication, the Council will be reviewing how parties comment on 
applications and how such information is retained and used. A further document dealing 
specifically data protection issues will be produced in due course alongside this 
document. This will be made publicly available, and will be regularly reviewed. 

3.3.6 The Council will take into account all responses received as a result of its 
consultations on planning applications where the issues raised are material planning 
considerations. We will not re-publicise comments received in their totality within 
reports or recommendations, and will summarise all comments received and material 
planning considerations raised. 

3.3.7 The Council can only consider objections or comments which raise relevant 
planning issues (also known as material planning considerations), for example loss of 
light or the effect a proposal might have on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area.

90



3 Planning Applications

3.3.8 Some examples of material considerations and non-material considerations can 
be found below (this list is not exhaustive).

Material Considerations Non-Material Considerations

National and local planning polices Issues considered under Building Regulations

Planning history and previous appeal 
decisions

Land/boundary disputes, including rights of 
access

Case law Opposition to business competition

Impact on sunlight, outlook, privacy and 
amenity

Loss of property value

Highways issues Loss of view

Effect on listed building or conservation 
area

Opposition to principle of development if 
permission has been granted by an outline 
application or appeal decision

Source: RTPI Planning Aid

3.3.9 A considerable amount of negotiation takes place on a large number of 
applications, particularly major ones. Steering development towards a more acceptable 
form is a crucial part of the development management process. This dialogue between 
planning officers, developers and their professional advisors and the local community is 
something which the Government and the Council actively encourages.

3.3.10 In a number of cases, proposals will generate much public interest and letters 
of objection. Often planning officers will advise developers that amendments to their 
applications will result in a better quality of development, which may indeed overcome 
objectors’ concerns. However, it is important to note that planning decisions are made 
on the basis of material planning considerations (many of which may be raised by 
objectors) but not the number of objections received.

Re-notification

3.3.11 In some instances, applications may be amended or additional supplementary 
information submitted to the Council during the life of the application. Where this 
happens and it materially alters a proposal, the Council will undertake a further 
consultation and notification exercise, commensurate with the type and size of 
amendments or the level of information submitted. Any additional publicity on changes 
to an application will be at the discretion of the case officer and will depend on the 
degree of change from the original submission. Any additional information received will 
be placed on the Council’s website.

3.3.12 For listed building applications, or applications within conservation areas, 
significant amendments will be re-advertised.

91



3.4 Determination of Planning Applications

3.4.1 The majority of planning applications are determined by planning officers under 
delegated powers. However, some applications such as those which are larger scale, 
strategic or controversial in nature are determined by the Council's Development 
Management Committee.

3.4.2 Where a determination may be made under delegated powers, we will endeavour 
to do so. A report will be produced, and will be available to view online when the 
decision is issued. The report will clearly set out the reasons for the decision that has 
been made, along with the consideration of relevant factors including development plan 
policies, and other material considerations including any comments received.

3.4.3 Meetings of the Council’s Development Management Committee are held 
approximately every 4 weeks. Where an application is required to be determined by the 
Council’s Development Management Committee, a report will be included on the 
Committee agenda which is available to view on the Council’s web site(10) and is 
published one week prior to the Committee meeting. 

3.4.4 Applicants and any other persons who have made representations on an 
application to be heard by Committee will be notified. The Council’s policy on public 
speaking at the Development Management Committee is available on the Council’s web 
site(11).

Role of Elected Members

3.4.5 One of the key purposes of the planning system is to manage development in 
the public interest. In performing this role, planning necessarily affects land and 
property interests, particularly the impact on adjoining land and development and the 
quality of their settings. It is important, therefore, that planning authorities make 
planning decisions affecting these interests openly, impartially, with sound judgement 
and for justifiable reasons.

3.4.6 People affected by a planning decision or other planning proposals may often 
seek to influence it through an approach to their elected District Councillor or to a Councillor 
on the relevant decision making committee. This lobbying is normal and a part of the 
political process. However, elected Members must restrict themselves to giving procedural 
advice, including suggesting to those who are lobbying that they should speak or write 
to the relevant officer, in order that their opinions can be included in the officer’s report 
to committee. Councillors are guided by Codes of Conduct.

10 http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=165&Year=0
11 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=9234Notification of Decision on Planning 
Applications

92

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=165&Year=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=9234


3 Planning Applications

3.4.7 Planning Practice Guidance and planning legislation requires specific parties to be 
notified of planning decisions. The Council approaches this by providing all of its 
decisions on the website (whether or not it was determined by officers under delegated 
powers or at Committee). Decisions, if taken at Committee, are also publicised in the 
committee minutes, also available on the Council’s website.

3.5 Planning Appeals

3.5.1 The planning system includes a right for the applicants to seek an Appeal to the 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS), acting on behalf of the Secretary of State. 

3.5.2 An appeal may be submitted by the applicant where permission has been refused 
or permitted with conditions which the applicant considers to be unacceptable. There is 
also a right of appeal if the application has not been determined within the relevant time 
limit. Third parties do not have the right to appeal planning decisions.

3.5.3 All those who were notified of the original application or submitted comments will 
be notified in writing of the appeal and how to make their views known to the Planning 
Inspectorate (PINS). Comments received by the Council as part of the determination of 
the original application will also be sent to the Planning Inspectorate.

3.5.4 Further notifications may be undertaken by the Council on behalf of the Planning 
Inspectorate depending on the type and nature of the Appeal. For example, Appeals 
decided by public inquiry require publication in the press (indicating the date, time and 
location of the inquiry) and a site notice will be posted.

3.5.5 The determination of an Appeal is outside of the control of the Council. The 
processing requirements, including the timescales, for the Planning Inspectorate are set 
out within planning legislation. The Planning Inspector will consider the evidence and 
decide whether to allow or dismiss the appeal. They will inform the Council and 
interested parties of the outcome, and place a copy of the decision on the Planning 
Inspectorate website. Once received, a copy of the decision will be placed on the 
Council’s website. This decision is binding on the Council (although it can be challenged 
on a point of law in the High Court).

3.6 Prior Approval Notifications

3.6.1 Prior approval means that a developer has to seek approval from the local 
planning authority that specified elements of the development are acceptable before 
work can proceed. The matters for prior approval vary depending on the type of 
development and these are set out in full in the relevant Parts in Schedule 2 to the 
General Permitted Development Order. A local planning authority cannot consider any 
other matters when determining a prior approval application.

3.6.2 The Council can consider whether prior approval of certain details is required in 
advance of a formal decision being issued. There are multiple kinds of prior approval 
notifications, with different determination periods. If no information is requested by the 
Council within these timescales, the application is approved. 

3.7 Designation of New or Amended Conservation Areas

3.7.1 Conservation area boundaries  itself are a statutory designation, and there is a 
duty ‘from time to time’ to review them below sets out what below of what the 

93



statutory requirements are and what the Council will do additionally.

3.7.2 Minimum statutory requirements 

 Proposals for preservation and enhancement of conservation area must be submitted for 
consideration at a public meeting to the local area which it relates

 The LPA must give regard to any views expressed by those who attended the meeting

 Notify the Secretary of State and Historic England

 Publicise the intention to designate by a notice placed in the London Gazette and a local 
newspaper.

 (We must follow the same publicity procedures to vary or cancel a designation as 
required to designate.)

3.7.3 Additional consultation

 6 weeks consultation

 Consult properties in existing and proposed boundaries

 Publish  on website

 Consult Heritage and community organisations

 Public meetings/exhibitions

3.7.4 Additional Notification

  Notify properties in new boundaries

 Notify Heritage and community organisations

3.8 Works to Protected Trees

3.8.1 Some trees are protected by Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). Where trees are 
covered by TPOs, any works to them require statutory notification to the Council. 
Applications for works to TPO trees will be determined within eight weeks from the date 
of receipt. Delegated authority is available for officers to determine the application.

3.8.2 There are no requirements to undertake consultation in respect of applications 
for works, however, neighbours will be notified of applications at the discretion of the 
case officer.

3.8.3 Following a decision, the decision notice will be made available online for public 
inspection.

3.8.4 Proposals for works to trees in Conservation Areas will be determined within six 
weeks from the date of receipt and if consent is not appropriate, the Local Planning 
Authority will consider placing a TPO on the tree(s). We will follow the same approach 

94



3 Planning Applications

with these applications as for works to a TPO tree as identified above.

3.8 Hedgerow Removal Applications

3.8.1 In some cases, the removal of certain hedgerows requires permission. Applications 
under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 will be determined within six weeks of receipt of 
a removal notice.

3.8.2 Consultation letters will be sent out to the Parish Council, and any other relevant 
bodies at the officer’s discretion.

3.9 Enforcement

3.9.1 Most enforcement cases arise following a referral from a member of the public. 
All referrals are treated confidentially. There is no consultation with the public on 
enforcement cases. Cases are investigated in accordance with the Councils planning 
Enforcement policy, and take into consideration national legislation and policy, case law 
and best practice. Many cases can be resolved or regularised through the submission of 
a planning application which is then determined in the normal way as identified by earlier 
sections of this document.

3.9.2 We do not make Enforcement cases publicly available, save for those which form part 
of the Councils formal Enforcement Register, which relate to those where formal notices were 
produced.

3.9.3 Further information on enforcement is available on the Council's web site(12).

12 http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8171

95

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8171


Appendix 1: Consultation Bodies

Duty to Co-operate

The Duty to Co-operate bodies (relevant to South Kesteven District) are: 

Environment Agency
English Heritage (Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England) 
Natural England
Civil Aviation Authority
Homes and Communities Agency
South and South West Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Groups 
Office of Rail Regulation
Highways Agency
Lincolnshire County Council (as the Highway Authority) 
Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 
Greater Lincolnshire Nature Partnership

Specific Consultation Bodies

The specific consultation bodies (relevant to South Kesteven District) are: 

The Coal Authority
Environment Agency* 
English Heritage* 
Natural England*
Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd 
Highways Agency
Any relevant local authority in or adjoining the District i.e. Parish, District/Unitary and 
County Councils
Any relevant telecommunications companies
South and South West Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Groups 
Any relevant electricity, gas, water and sewage undertakers 
Homes and Communities Agency

* the Council is required to consult with these bodies regarding the scope of Sustainability 
Appraisals

General Consultation Bodies

The general consultation bodies are:

Voluntary bodies whose work benefits any part of the District
Bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups in 
the area
Bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the area 
Bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the area
Bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying out business in the area

96



Appendix 1: Consultation Bodies

Hard to Reach Groups

The following groups have been identified as the District's hard to reach groups. A number 
of these have local or national bodies which represent them and which are included in 
the Council's consultation database as general consultation bodies:

Young people
People from ethnic minority backgrounds 
People with disabilities
The elderly
Rural communities 
Traveller communities 
The homeless

97



Appendix 2: Summary of Development Plan Document 
Preparation

Stage Minimum consultation 
requirements

Additional consultation 
methods which may be used

Preparation of 
a local plan 
(Reg 18)

To notify (via letter or email) and 
invite representations about the 
scope of the local plan from:

specific consultation bodies; 
general consultation bodies; and 
residents or other persons 
carrying out business within the 
area where appropriate

Those considered to have an interest 
will be informed by email or letter 
regarding:

the consultation period; and 
how the plan can be viewed and 
commented on

Depending on the complexity of the 
Local Plan there may be more than 
one consultation period during the 
plan preparation stage, normally with 
a minimum consultation period of 6 
weeks (up to a maximum of 12 
weeks)

Press release to local 
newspapers
Public notice in local 
newspapers
Drop in sessions 
Stakeholder group 
meetings 
Summary leaflets 
Use of social 
media

Publication of a 
local plan (Reg 
19)

and

Representations 
relating to a 
local plan (Reg 
20)

Make copies of the proposed 
submission document and supporting 
information available:

at the Council’s principle and 
area offices;
other places considered 
appropriate (e.g. local libraries); 
and
on the Council’s website.

Press release to local 
newspapers
Public notice in local 
newspapers
Drop in sessions 
Stakeholder group 
meetings 
Summary leaflets
Use of social media

Make available a statement of the 
representations procedure which 
states:

Notice circulated to Town 
and Parish Councils and 
Meetings for public display

98



Appendix 2: Summary of Development Plan Document Preparation

Stage Minimum consultation 
requirements

Additional consultation 
methods which may be used

where the submission 
documents can be viewed; and 
the period the documents will be 
made available for.

Set a statutory period of at least 6 
weeks for any person to make a 
representation on the proposed local 
plan.

All general and specific consultation 
bodies invited to make 
representations under Regulation 18 
to be sent a copy of the statement 
of representation procedure and a 
notification that the submission 
document(s) are available for 
inspection.

Submission of 
Plan to 
Secretary of 
State (Reg 22)

The plan and required accompanying 
documents to be sent in paper form 
and electronically to the Secretary of 
State.

The plan and accompanying 
documents will be made available at 
the Council offices, libraries and 
published on the Council’s website.

A statement will be placed on the 
Council’s website and made available 
at the Council offices and Libraries 
setting out where the plan and 
accompanying documents are 
available and the times at which they 
can be inspected.

All those notified at the plan 
preparation and publication stages 
will be notified that the plan has been 
submitted and where it can be 
inspected. Anyone else who has 
specifically asked to be notified when 
the plan is submitted will also be 
contacted.

Press release to local 
newspapers
Public notice in local 
newspapers
Use of social media

99



Stage Minimum consultation 
requirements

Additional consultation 
methods which may be used

Independent 
Examination

(Reg 24)

At least 6 weeks before the opening 
of the examination hearing any 
person who made a representation 
in accordance with Regulation 20 will 
be notified about the examination 
and given the opportunity to appear 
before and heard by the Independent 
Inspector

Press release to local 
newspapers
Public notice in local 
newspapers
Use of social media

A public notice to be placed on the 
Council’s website and a hard copy 
placed on display in the Council’s 
offices setting out the date, time and 
place where the hearing(s) will be 
held and the name of the Inspector 
appointed to carry out the 
examination

Proposed 
modifications

Modifications will be published on the 
website

Notification of the publication will be 
made to all those who made 
representations on the Local Plan

Press release to local 
newspapers
Public notice in local 
newspapers

Publication of 
Inspector’s 
recommendations 
(Reg 25)

The Inspector’s Report will be made 
available at the Council offices and 
published on the Council’s website.

Any persons who requested to be 
notified of the publication of the 
report will be informed that the 
recommendations are available.

Not applicable

Adoption of a As soon as reasonably practicable
local plan (Reg after the Council adopts a plan, the
26) plan and accompanying documents

will be made available at the Council
offices and Libraries and on the
Council’s website. Details of where
the plan is available for inspection
and the places and times will also be
publicised.

Press release to local 
newspapers
Public notice in local 
newspapers
Use of social media

100



Appendix 4: Publicity for Planning Applications

Stage Minimum consultation 
requirements

Additional consultation 
methods which may be used

A copy of the adoption statement will 
also be sent via letter or email to the 
Secretary of State and to anyone who 
has specifically asked to be notified.

101



Appendix 3: Summary of Supplementary Planning Documents 
Preparation

Stage Minimum consultation 
requirements

Additional consultation 
methods which may be used

Public 
participation

Press release to local 
newspapers

(Reg 12)

And

Public Notice in local 
newspapers

Representations 
on
supplementary 
planning 
documents

Public meetings 
and/or exhibitions

Stakeholder group meetings 

Summary leaflets

(Reg 13)

Specific consultees, general 
consultees and those considered 
to have an interest will be 
informed by email or letting 
regarding:

the consultation period; and 
how the document can be 
viewed.

The draft document will be made 
available at the Council offices, 
Libraries and published on the 
Council’s website.

There will be one formal 
consultation period during the 
preparation, normally with a 
minimum consultation period of 4 
weeks.

Use of social media

Adoption of 
supplementary 
planning 
documents

(Reg 14)

An adoption statement, together 
with the SPD, will be made 
available at the Council offices, 
Libraries and published on the 
Council’s website.

A copy of the adoption statement 
will also be sent via letter or email 
to anyone who has specifically 
asked to be notified.

Press release to local 
newspapers

Public Notice in local 
newspapers

Use of social media

Appendix 4: Publicity for Planning Applications
102



Appendix 4: Publicity for Planning Applications

Nature of Development Publicity/consultation Regulations

For applications accompanied 
by an Environmental Impact 
Assessment

Public Notice in local 
press
Site notice

Town and Country 
Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) 
Order 2010 Article 15 (2) 
(a) (DMPO) (or as 
amended)
&
The Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 Part 5 
(or as amended)

Proposals that depart from 
the Development Plan

Public Notice in local 
press
Site notice

DMPO 2010 Article 15 
(2)(b) (or as amended)

Development affecting a 
Right of Way

Public Notice in local 
press
Site notice

DMPO 2010 Article 15 
(2)(c) (or as amended)

Major Development
10 or more dwellings or 
site area of 0.5 hectares 
or more
1000 sq m or more of 
floorspace
Development carried out 
on a site having an area 
of 11 hectares or more

Public Notice in local 
press

Site notice
or
Notification to adjoining land 
owners or occupiers

DMPO 2010 Article 15 (4) 
(or as amended)

All other ‘Planning 
Applications’

Site Notice
or
Notification to adjoining land 
owners or occupiers

DMPO 2010 Article 15 (5) 
(or as amended)

103



Lawful Development 
Certificate (for proposed 
development)
Non-material amendments 
Discharge of conditions 
Certificates of Appropriate 
Alternative Development 
Hazardous Substances 
Consent
Advertisement Consent
Adjoining Authority 
Consultation

Lawful Development 
Certificate (for existing 
development)

None required, Notification 
sent at officer discretion

None required, Notification to 
Parish Councils and 
neighbours at officer 
discretion

n/a

n/a

104



Appendix 4: Publicity for Planning Applications

Nature of Development Publicity/consultation Regulations

Works to trees 
protected by Tree 
Preservation 
Order/within a 
Conservation Area

None required, Parish 
notified of decision

n/a

Hedgerow Removal Notices Notification to Parish 
Councils

The Hedgerows Regulations 
1997 (or as amended)

Listed Building Consent 
Application

Public Notice in local 
press
Site notice
(unless works are wholly 
internal on a Grade 2 listed 
building)

Regulation 5(a) of The 
Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) 
Regulations 1990 (or as 
amended)

Development affecting the 
setting of a listed building

Public Notice in local 
press
Site notice

Section 67 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 (or as amended)

Development affecting the 
character or appearance of a 
Conservation Area

Prior notifications for 
proposed development
(includes home extensions, 
agricultural buildings, 
telecoms etc.)

Public Notice in local 
press
Site notice

Due to the number of 
different types of prior 
notification with various 
publicity requirements, they 
will not all be listed here.
All prior notifications will be 
dealt with as specified by the 
GPDO

Regulation 5(a) of The 
Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) 
Regulations 1990 (or as 
amended)

The Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (GPDO) (or as 
amended)

105



Glossary and List of Abbreviations

Glossary

Conservation Area - areas of special architectural and/or historic interest, the character 
of appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance

Core Strategy – sets out the long-term spatial vision and spatial objectives for the district 
and strategic policies and proposals to deliver that vision

Development Plan Documents (DPDs) - They are spatial planning documents that 
are subject to independent examination. There is a right for those making representations 
seeking change to be heard at an independent examination

Duty to Cooperate - created by the Localism Act 2011 it places a duty on local authorities 
to 'engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis' with certain specified bodies 
to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan preparation relating to strategic cross boundary 
issues

Examination - the purpose of the Examination is to determine if the Local Plan is sound. 
Most representations to the Examination will be written representations but in some cases 
the Inspector may decide the issues raised should be dealt with at hearing sessions

General Consultation Bodies - organisations defined by The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 that are required to be consulted at key 
stages of plan production. They include bodies which represent the interests of different 
racial, ethnic, religious or national groups, disabled persons and business in the LPA's area

Hard to Reach Groups - Groups of people or organisations within the community that 
have traditionally been more difficult to engage in the planning system. They include older 
people, religious, disabled and ethnic minority groups

Localism Act 2011 - Government legislation containing wide range of reforms to the 
planning system

Local Development Scheme (LDS) - sets out the programme for the preparation of 
local development documents.

Local Enterprise Partnership - local partnerships between local authorities and 
businesses set up to determine local economic priorities and undertake activities to drive 
economic growth and the creation of local jobs. There is a Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Economic Partnership

Local Plan – The new term for the suite of Development Plan documents. It may consist 
of a single or number of Development Plan Documents

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – sets out the Governments planning 
policies. Replaces all previous Planning Policy Statements and associated Guidance

106



Glossary and List of Abbreviations

Neighbourhood Development Plans - The Plans are prepared by a parish council or 
neighbourhood forum for a particular neighbourhood area (made under the Localism Act 
2011) and have to be in general conformity with the district plan, undergo Examination 
and a Referendum. After adoption they are used (alongside other policy documents) to 
determine planning applications

Planning Inspectorate (PINS) - an independent Government agency that processes 
planning and enforcement appeals and holds inquiries into development plan documents

Specific Consultation Bodies - organisations defined by The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 that are required to be consulted at key 
stages of plan production. They include neighbouring and parish councils, key service 
providers, Government departments and non-government organisations

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) - sets out the standards which the 
plan-making authority intends to achieve in relation to involving the community in the 
preparation, alteration and continuing review of all planning policy documents and in 
development management decisions

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - these cover a wide range of issues 
on which the plan making authority wishes to provide guidance to supplement the policies 
and proposals in development plan documents. They do not form part of the development 
plan and are not subject to independent examination

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) - a tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect 
sustainable development objectives (i.e. social, environmental and economic factors)

Tree Preservation Order (TPO) - an Order made by a Council in respect of a tree(s) 
because the tree is considered to bring amenity value to the surrounding area. The order 
makes it an offence to cut down, uproot, prune, lop or damage the tree in question without 
first obtaining the Council’s consent. A TPO can apply to a single tree, a group of trees 
or a woodland

107



List of Abbreviations

DPD - Development Plan Document 

LEP - Local Enterprise Partnership 

LDS - Local Development Scheme 

LPA - Local Planning Authority

NDP - Neighbourhood Development Plan

PINS - Planning Inspectorate

SA - Sustainability Appraisal

SCI - Statement of Community Involvement

SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 

TPO - Tree Preservation Order

108



2

South Kesteven District Council 
Council Offices
St Peter’s Hill 

Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ

t: 01476 40 60 80
e: pr@southkesteven.gov.uk

w: www.southkesteven.gov.uk

South Kesteven District 
Council

STAMFORD • GRANTHAM • BOURNE • THE DEEPINGS
109

mailto:pr@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



SCI response Table – DRAFT

Number of responses received – 15 

Organisations 

Name / Org  Comment summary Response 
Langoft Parish 
Council. 

Concerned there is no consultation about works to protected trees – The Parish would like to be 
consulted on matters with TPOs.

There is no statutory requirement 
to consult Parish Councils on apps 
for works to TPOs – decisions are 
made on basis of expert comments 
from our arboriculturalist

The Woodland 
Trust 

Would like to be listed in Appendix 1 of your Statement of Community Involvement (page 21) as 
one of the Specific Consultation Bodies

Not agreed – the Woodland Trust is 
covered within the category of the 
general consultation bodies.  
Specific Consultation bodies are 
defined in the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

Upper Witham 
Internal Drainage 
Board

It is however noted that Internal Drainage Boards are not included on the consultee list in 
Appendix 1

IDBs are not statutory consultees – 
when we consult Lincolnshire 
County Council (as the local lead 
flood authority) on a planning 
application, they send out their 
own consultation letters to other 
drainage bodies including IDBs and 
incorporate any comments from 
them in their response to us.

111



Historic England Paragraph 2.2.7 - will need to be updated to reflect the current situation of the NPPF.

Appendix 1 - The list currently refers to 'English Heritage'.  All references to 'English Heritage' should 
be revised to read 'Historic England'. 

Appendix 1 - Heritage related National Amenity Societies and The Garden Trust are not referred to 
and it is recommended they be included as they are required to be consulted in respect of certain 
development proposals.

Paragraph 3.2.3- Appendix 1 seems to be referred to only in the Duty to Co-operate section at 
Paragraph 1.2.3.  Paragraphs 3.2.1-3.2.5 inclusive do not refer to statutory consultees in respect of 
planning application consultations and it is recommended that, for clarity and avoidance of doubt, 
that Paragraph 3.2.3 is added to and reference made to a revised Appendix 1 as set out above.

Appendix 4 - It is recommended that Appendix 4 includes reference to statutory consultees whether 
within the table, or as separate text after the table for clarity and avoidance of doubt.

Agreed

Agreed 

Agreed, with respect to certain 
development proposals

Agreed 

Not agreed,  not relevant to have 
the statutory consultees listed 
there as they are already listed in 
Appendix 1, and Appendix 4 is 
solely related to publicity (i.e. 
press, site notice).

Natural England Supportive of the principle of meaningful and early engagement of the general community, 
community organisations and statutory bodies in local planning matters, both in terms of shaping 
policy and participating in the process of determining planning applications

Agreed – no response required

Highways 
England

Welcome the clear arrangements set out by the Council which will be used to engage with the public 
to help ensure that the entire cross-section of the local population has the opportunity to be 
involved in the planning process.

Agreed – no response required

Environment 
Agency 

No Comments to make No response required

Greater  
Lincolnshire 

The GLNP is keen to also be involved in informal and ongoing consultations during the development 
of the Local Plan

Agreed  - no direct response to SCI 
required

112



Nature 
Partnership 
(GLNP) 
South & South 
West Lincolnshire 
CCG

Might want to consider stating an offer an “easy read” or adapted version where there are larger 
scale developments that you are wanting to engage the community on to enable some of your 
“hard to reach” groups to access documents.

The NHS have to use the following guidance:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/accessilbe-info-specification-v1-1.pdf

The SCI is a statutory document 
and so follows a standard format 
but we will liaise with our 
colleagues in Marketing and 
Communications to see if an “easy 
read” summary can be produced

General Comments 

Dennis King With the publication of DPDs the use of summary leaflets and social media to communicate the plan 
should further explain how these will be targeted to reach the right audience

The SCI should explain how Neighbourhood Plan consultation will be carried out

There is no reference to the status or existence of such a plan on the Council website

As stated above, we will liaise with 
our colleagues in Marketing and 
Communications to see if an “easy 
read” summary can be produced.

Agreed – additional text 
recommended for inclusion

It can be found on the Council’s 
website by Google search but 
would agree that it needs to be 
more prominent

Steve Prince It would appear that Grantham residents are disadvantaged in consultation processes by the lack 
of a Town Council.

All residents across the Council are 
treated the same within 
consultation processes and the SCI 
reflects the current make-up of 
Town and Parish Councils within 
the District

113

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/accessilbe-info-specification-v1-1.pdf


Keith Grumbley The process by which planning applications are determined is not generally understood by the 
public. The relevant paragraphs in the document need to reflect more openness on this aspect of 
the planning process.

As stated above, we will liaise with 
our colleagues in Marketing and 
Communications to see if an “easy 
read” summary can be produced

Cllr Ray Wooten 3.4.6 Member involvement – The paragraph fails to include the right that members can attend 
any Development Management Committee meeting and, with the Chairman’s permission, speak 
on objector’s behalf, highlighting valid planning objections.

Agreed

Lynn Stephenson This Consultation is an irrelevant exercise akin to all other Consultations which have masqueraded 
as SKDC personnel caring about public opinion. Public opinion is sought to ease their consciences 
and then quickly dismissed and the plans are approved.

No response required

Pamela Steel The following Comments from 1.4.1 of the 2014 SCI have been omitted – These should again be 
included to ensure community involvement is genuine and indicate how communities can help 
shape their Local Areas. 

This section referred to the 
Council’s Consultation Strategy 
which is no longer in place.  The 
Council is still committed to the 
principles contained in this and so 
the text will be included in the 
revised SCI. 114


	Agenda
	5 Action Notes of the Meeting held on 28 November 2018
	7 Quarter 1 & 2 Performance Monitoring and the Future of Performance Management
	ACEX013_Q1_Appendix 1
	ACEX013_Q2_Appendix 2

	8 Quarter 3 Finance Report 2018/19
	9 Property Investment Policy and Capital Strategy
	Appendix A Capital Strategy
	Appendix B Property Investment Policy

	10 Statement of Community Involvement
	Appendix 1 - Final Draft SCI
	Appendix 2 - Draft SCI response Table 2018


